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Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd. 10.00% senior secured USD 185,000,000 bonds 2024/2027 

Admission Document 

This admission document (the "Admission Document") has been prepared by Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd. (the 

"Issuer") in connection with listing of the bonds (the "Bonds") issued under the Issuer's 10.00% senior secured 

USD 185,000,000 bonds 2024/2027 with ISIN NO0013187179 (the "Bond Issue"), including both the initial bonds 

issued on 19 April 2024 and the additional bonds issued on 22 July 2024. The Bond Issue is guaranteed by Ventura 

Petróleo S.A., a company incorporated under the laws of Brazil with company number 33.3.0028379-0 (the "VP") 

together with 4 directly or indirectly owned subsidiaries of the Issuer (the Issuer together with VP and its other 

subsidiaries, the "Group"). 

This Admission Document does not constitute a prospectus under the Prospectus Regulation (Regulation (EU) 

2017/1129) or the Norwegian Securities Trading Act of 29 June 2007 no. 75 (together with ancillary rules and 

regulations, the "Prospectus Regulations"), and has not been prepared to comply with the Prospectus 

Regulations. This Admission Document has been inspected by Nordic ABM as part of the Nordic ABM listing 

process, but has not been reviewed by or approved by the Norwegian Financial Supervisory Authority or any 

other public authority. 

This Admission Document has been prepared solely for information purposes in connection with listing of the 

Bonds on the Nordic ABM, a list of registered bonds operated by Oslo Børs ASA and for which Oslo Børs ASA 

determines the rules (the "ABM Rules") in consultation with market participants. The Admission Document does 

not constitute or form part of any offer or other solicitation to subscribe for or purchase any bonds or other 

securities, and is not intended to form the basis of any investment decision. 

Distribution of this Admission Document may be restricted by local securities legislation and failure to comply 

with these restrictions may violate applicable securities legislation. Persons who become in possession of this 

Admission Document may be required to inform themselves about, and to observe, all such restrictions. 

Neither the Issuer, VP nor any of their Affiliates (as defined in the bond terms attached hereto) shall be held 

responsible or liable for any violation of such restrictions by recipients of this Admission Document. 

THE BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 

1933, AS AMENDED (THE "US SECURITIES ACT"), OR WITH ANY SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY 

STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION IN THE UNITED STATES. ACCORDINGLY, THE BONDS MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR 

SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES, OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, A "US PERSON" EXCEPT IN 

TRANSACTIONS EXEMPT FROM, OR NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE US SECURITIES 

ACT AND IN COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS. 

The information included in this Admission Document is as of the date hereof. Any publication or distribution of 

this Admission Document subsequent to such date shall not be taken as a representation that the information 

included herein is still correct and accurate. 
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This Admission Document is subject to Norwegian law. Any dispute arising in respect of this Admission Document 

is subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of Norwegian courts, with Oslo District Court (No. Oslo tingrett) as legal 

venue. 

This Admission Document is dated 23 September 2024. 

1 RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 

This admission document has been prepared by the Issuer in connection with the listing of the Bonds on Nordic 

ABM. The person responsible for the information given in this Prospectus is as follows: 

Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd.  

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda  

The Issuer confirm that to the best of its knowledge the information contained in this admission document is in 

accordance with the facts and the document contains no omission likely to affect its import. 

23 September 2024 

Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd.  

__________________________ 

Name: Gunnar Eliassen  

Title: Director and authorised signatory 
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2 REQUIREMENTS FOR THE ADMISSION DOCUMENT 

This document has been prepared in accordance with the ABM Rules section 2.7 to address the additional 

requirements for the listing document set out in the ABM Rules section 2.7.2.3.  

2.1 Business name, registered office, and head office if different from the registered office 

The Issuer has its registered office at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda, and its head 

office at the same address.  

2.2 Date of incorporation 

The Issuer was incorporated on 15 March 2024.  

2.3 The legislation to which the Issuer is subject 

The Issuer is incorporated under, and subject to, the laws of Bermuda.  

2.4 Indication of the Issuer's objects and purposes as set out in its articles of association 

The articles of association of the Issuer do not set out the objects and purposes of the Issuer, as this is not 

required under the laws of Bermuda. The Issuer's purposes is, however, to act as an intermediate holding 

company for the Group and issue the Bonds.   

2.5 The Issuer's registration number 

The Issuer's company number is 202403320. 

2.6 The Issuer's equity capital and the distribution of this capital between distributable 

The Issuer has issued 1 share of USD 0.01, USD 0.01 in total. The entire issued share capital is owned by Ventura 

Offshore Holding Ltd. 

2.7 Information on the Issuer's borrowings and outstanding loans. Any loss trend must be 

summarised and commented on  

Apart from the Bond Issue, the Issuer has the following borrowings and outstanding loans:  

(i) a revolving facility agreement and a guarantee facility agreement both dated 18 July 2024 entered into 

between the Issuer and DNB Bank ASA as lender and agent ("DNB"), whereby DNB has made available 

a revolving credit facility and a guarantee facility for a total aggregate amount of USD 30,000,000 (the 

"Super Senior RCF" and "Guarantee Facility"). As of the date of this Admission Document, the Issuer 

has drawn USD 9,875,000 on the Super Senior RCF. Pursuant to the Super Senior RCF, DNB shares the 

security package with Nordic Trustee AS (as the bond trustee) under the Bonds; and 

(ii) a subordinated loan agreement dated 4 May 2024 (as amended and restated on 17 July 2024 and as 

subsequently amended, novated or adjusted from time to time) entered into between the Issuer and 

Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd. (the "Subordination Agreement"), pursuant to which the Issuer has 

received a subordinated loan of USD 215,857,294 from Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd., for the purposes 

of financing the acquisition of Universal Energy Resources Inc., and SSV Catarina Overseas Inc. The 

maturity date is six (6) months after the maturity date of the Bonds and is both interest free and 

unsecured.  
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In addition to the above, there will from time to time be intragroup receivables in the Group, always pursuant to 

the Bond Terms.   

2.8 If the Issuer belongs to a group, or to a group of undertakings that are interrelated through 

common ownership or common management, a brief description of the structure and 

ownership of the group and the Issuer's role within the group. 

The Issuer, Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd, is a limited company. The Issuer is a newly incorporated entity, 

incorporated on 15 March 2024 with Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd. as owner of the entire share capital since the 

incorporation.  

The Issuer is a subsidiary of Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd., which directly or indirectly holds a majority of the 

shares in all guarantors. The Issuer has no operational or financial history and has been incorporated to act as 

an intermediate holding company and the issuing entity in connection with the Bond Issue. 

The guarantors for the Bond Issue comprise of: 

• Ventura Petróleo S.A   

• Universal Energy Resources, Inc.  

• Carolina Marine Inc. 

• Victoria Marine Inc. 

• Commodore Marine LLP 

 

The directors consider Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd, a company incorporated in Bermuda, to be the ultimate 

parent company. Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd is listed on Euronext Growth Oslo and is consequently owned by 

multiple shareholders:  

2.9 The number, book value and nominal value of own shares owned by the Issuer or by a company 

in which the Issuer directly or indirectly owns more than 50% of the shares. 

As of the date of this Admission Document, the Issuer is owned 100% of Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd. The issuer 

owns no own shares, and no company in which the Issuer directly or indirectly owns more than 50% of the shares 

owns shares in the Issuer.  

The Issuer directly owns 100% of the shares in Universal Energy Resource Inc., and Catarina Overseas Inc. In 

addition, the Issuer also indirectly owns more than 50% of the shares in 10 subsidiaries. Please see Appendix 2 

(Corporate Group Structure) for further details on the Issuers direct and indirect ownership of subsidiaries.  

2.10 Description of the Issuer's principal activities, stating the main categories of products sold 

and/or services performed, as well as a description of the Issuer's corporate structure or 

organisational structure. If relevant, an indication of any significant new products and/or 

activities. 

The Issuer has no principal activities, except for issuing the Bonds and acting as an intermediate holding company 

for the Group.  

The Group was formed in May 2024 through the Issuer's acquisition of all of the shares in Universal Energy 

Resources, Inc., The Group is a deep water drilling contractor providing offshore drilling services to the oil and 

gas industry. The Group focuses on deep water drilling operations in water depths of up to 12,000 feet. The 

Group's core activities are focused in the Brazilian offshore oil and gas market. The Group has also demonstrated 
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its capability to operate in other key benign environment basins for deep water drilling rigs, including regions like 

West Africa and Southeast Asia.  

 

For an overview of the Group's corporate structure, please refer to Appendix 2. 

2.11 Information on turnover and operating results during the past two financial years. 

The Issuer is a newly incorporated company and has no historical audited accounts. The Issuer has, however, 

prepared consolidated interim financial statements for the period from incorporation to 30 June 2024. The 

consolidated interim financial statement are unaudited and were published 30 August 2024.  

The Issuer's parent company, Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd., has also prepared consolidated interim financial 

statements for the period from 24 February 2024 (its incorporation) to 30 June 2024, which includes relevant 

financial information about the Issuer and the Group. These are also unaudited and were also published 30 

August 2024.  

The consolidated unaudited interim financial statements for the Issuer and Venture Offshore Holding Ltd., are 

included in Appendix 1. Included are also the relevant financial statements that were included in the information 

document when Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd., was listed on Euronext Growth Oslo.   

By providing the financial reports for the Issuer and Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd., all relevant available financial 

reports are provided, and it's the Issuer's view that investors and their advisers is in a position to make a well 

informed assessment of the Bond Issue. 

2.12 Location and size of establishments accounting for more than 10% of the Issuer's turnover or 

production. A summary account of real estate of significance owned by the Issuer. 

The Issuer has no establishments accounting for more than 10% of its turnover or production and owns no real 

estate of significance.  

2.13 For mining, power production, petroleum extraction and similar activities a description of 

deposits, an estimate of economically exploitable reserves and expected period of lifetime must 

be provided where this information is of material importance. 

No information of material importance.  

2.14 Where the information given pursuant to 2.11 to 2.13. has been influenced by extraordinary 

factors, that fact shall be mentioned. 

The Issuer is a newly incorporated entity, and there have been no subsequent events since incorporation other 

than the issuance of the Bonds. The Group, however, has completed a number of transactions since its inception. 

For further information regarding these transactions, please see 2.17 and 2.21 below.  

2.15 Information on patents and licences, production, financing and sales agreements and on new 

production methods owned by the Issuer and on which the Issuer is dependent, where such 

factors are of significant importance to the Issuer's business. 

Alongside the Bond, the combined Group financing facilities in place consist of the Super Senior RCF, the 

Guarantee Facility and the Subordination Agreement accounted for in 2.7 above. The Issuers parent company, 

Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd., has granted a parent company guarantee in favour of the Super Senior RCF only.  

The Group has the following existing charter agreements: 
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(i) a charter contract for utilisation of DS Carolina between Petróleo Brasileiro S.A. and Commodore 

Marine LLP with contract no. 5900.0119999.21.2, as amended from time to time; 

(ii) the charter contracts for utilisation of SSV Catarina between ENI East Sepinggan Ltd., ENI West Ganal 

Ltd., and ENI East Ganal Ltd. and the Target, as part of a consortium with local companies, with contract 

nos. 5000025025; 5000025026; 5000025028, as amended from time to time; and 

(iii) the charter contract for utilisation of SSV Victoria between Petróleo Brasileiro S.A. and Commodore 

Marine LLP with contract no. 5900.0120000.21.2, as amended from time to time   

The Group does not have any other, patents and licenses, production, financing and sales agreements, or any 

new production methods, which it depends on and are of significant importance to its business. 

2.16 Information on any legal disputes, arbitration proceedings, legal decisions, arbitration rulings 

or settlements not shown in the accounts appended to the admission document which have or 

may have a significant effect on the Issuer's financial position. 

The Issuer is not subject to any legal disputes, arbitration proceedings, legal decisions, arbitration rulings or 

settlements not shown in the accounts appended to the admission document 

2.17 Description, with figures, of the main investments made, including investment in shares, units, 

bonds etc., over the past three financial years and so far in the current financial year. 

Investments 2024 as per the date of this Admission Document:   

The Group has completed a number of transactions since its inception. The Group completed the acquisition of 

100% of the shares in Universal Energy Resources Inc on 8 May 2024. As part of this acquisition the parent 

company raised gross proceeds of USD 170.0 million in a share offering, whereby USD 162.325 million was 

distributed to the Group through a subordinated loan to finance the acquisition, together with the bond loan of 

USD 130.0 million. On 23 July  2024, the Group acquired SSV Catarina for a consideration of USD 100.0 million in 

cash, USD 5.0 million worth of shares in the parent company, a 17.5% EBITDA profit-split for the first five years 

after delivery and certain other delivery related costs. The acquisition was financed through a tap bond issue of 

USD 55.0 million, a subordinated loan from the parent company of approx. USD 53,53 million and cash available. 

Investments in 2023: Not applicable (Issuer was not incorporated).  

Investments in 2022: Not applicable (Issuer was not incorporated).  

Investments in 2021: Not applicable (Issuer was not incorporated). 

2.18 Information concerning the principal investments being made with the exception of interests 

being acquired in other undertakings. Distribution of these investments geographically and by 

method of financing. 

No principal investments are currently being made by the Issuer.  

2.19 Information concerning any major future investments planned by the Issuer that have been 

approved by its corporate bodies. 

There are no firm major investment decisions made by the Issuer's corporate bodies as at the date of this 

Admission Document. 
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2.20 Audited financial information in accordance with the accounting legislation to which the Issuer 

is subject for the two preceding financial years or for such shorter accounting period as the 

Issuer has been in existence. Interim reports shall be included if such reports have been 

published since the most recent annual report. It must be stated whether or not the interim 

report has been audited. 

The Issuer was incorporated on 15 March 2024 and have no audited financial information. Please see Appendix 

1 for  the Issuer's and Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd.'s consolidated unaudited interim financial statement for the 

period from  their incorporation to 30 June 2024.  

2.21 General information on the development of the Issuer's activities since the end of the financial 

year covered by the last published annual accounts. Information on the most significant recent 

trends in production, sales and stocks and the state of the order book, and recent trends in 

costs and selling prices and other factors of material significance for operations. Oslo Børs ASA 

reserves the right to require that pro forma figures are included. 

The Issuer is a newly incorporated entity. As mentioned above, The Group has completed a number of 

transactions since its inception. The Group completed the acquisition of 100% of the shares in Universal Energy 

Resources Inc on 8 May 2024. As part of this acquisition the parent company raised gross proceeds of USD 170.0 

million in a share offering, whereby USD 162.325 million was distributed to the Group through a subordinated 

loan to finance the acquisition, together with the bond loan of USD 130.0 million. On 23 July 2024, the Group 

acquired SSV Catarina for a consideration of USD 100.0 million in cash, USD 5.0 million worth of shares in the 

parent company, a 17.5% EBITDA profit-split for the first five years after delivery and certain other delivery related 

costs. The acquisition was financed through a tap bond issue of USD 55.0 million, a subordinated loan from the 

parent company of approx. USD 53.53 million and cash available. 

There are no other significant trends in the Group's activities or other trends of material significance for the 

Group's operations since the end of the financial year covered by the latest published annual accounts of the 

Group. 

2.22 Names, addresses and functions in the issuing undertaking of the following persons, and an 

indication of the principal activities performed by them outside the Issuer where these are 

significant in relation to the Issuer: 1. Members of the administrative, management or 

supervisory bodies, 2. General partners if the Issuer is a limited partnership company. 

The Group's members of the management  Function 

Guilherme Coelho 

Address: R MARQ SAO VICENTE 226 BL B AP 702, 

22451042, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil 

Chief Executive Officer 

Luis Mariano  

Address: Avenida das Acácias da Península, 150/802-

Bloco 1, 22776000 Rio de Janeiro, Brazil 

Chief Operating Officer 

Marcelo Issa  

Address: Rua Timoteo da Costa 623 apto 1101, 

22450130, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil 

Chief Financial Officer 

Mardonildo Filho Chief Strategy Officer 
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Address: Avenida das Acácias da Península 607, bloco 3, 

apto 1302 , 22776000, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil 

Carlos Guimarâes  

Address: Condomínio Green Park, Estrada da Cancela 

Preta, 581, casa 40, 27937050 Macae, Brazil  

Engineering Director  

José Maria Miranda 

Address: Rua Redentor 324 Apto 201 , 22421030 Rio de 

Janeiro, Brazil 

Operations Support Director 

Linneu Mello 

Address: Rua Araujo Porto Alegre 70 11o andar, 

20030015, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil 

Chief Legal Counsel 

 

The Issuer's members of the board of directors Function 

Gunnar W. Eliassen 

Address: 28 Cathcart Road, SW10 9NN, London, UK 

Chairperson 

Børge Johansen 

Address: Strømstangveien 7H, 1367 Snarøya, Norway 

Director 

Michael Windeler  

Address: 612 Berry Rd, BC , V0N 1G1, Bowen Island, 

Canada 

Director 

Guilherme Coelho  

Address: R MARQ SAO VICENTE 226 BL B AP 702 , 

22451042, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil 

Director  

 

The Issuer is not a limited partnership company with any general partners.  

2.23 Identity of the parties who assisted the Issuer in the preparation of the admission document. 

Where the admission document has been prepared by a party other than the Issuer, this party's 

name must be provided. Where a party has prepared only parts of the admission document, the 

parts to which this applies must be specified. 

Advokatfirmaet Thommessen AS has assisted the Issuer in the preparation of this Admission Document. 

2.24 The name and address of the auditor who has audited the Issuer's annual report and accounts 

for the last three financial years. If the auditor has deemed that the accounts should not be 

adopted as they stand or has made comments, qualifications or reservations in the audit report, 

this must be stated together with the reasons given. If the Issuer has replaced the auditor 

during the past three years, or the auditor has stepped down and has given grounds for so doing, 
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this must be mentioned. If the auditor has audited information in the admission document, the 

admission document shall state which information was audited. 

The Issuer's independent auditor is KPMG AS, with business registration number 935 174 627, and business 

address at Sørkedalsveien 6, 0369 Oslo, Norway. KPMG has been the auditor of the Issuer since 19 March 2024. 

KPMG is registered with the Norwegian FSA, and is a member of Den Norske Revisorforening (The Norwegian 

Institute of Public Accountants).  

KPMG has not yet audited any financial statements of the Issuer 

2.25 Information on where the documents mentioned in the admission document in respect of the 

Issuer are available for inspection 

This Admission Document, together with any appendices mentioned herein, may be inspected at the Group's 

registered offices at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda .  

Appendices: 

Appendix 1:  Financial statements for the Issuer and Ventura Offshore Holdings Ltd., and the relevant 

financial statements that were included in the information document when Ventura Offshore 

Holding Ltd., was listed on Euronext Growth Oslo.   

Appendix 2:  Corporate Group Structure  

Appendix 3:  Articles of Association 
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APPENDIX 1 

THE UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FOLLOWING:  

• Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd. (for the period from incorporation to 30 June 2024) 

• Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd. (for the period from incorporation to 30 June 2024) 

THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FOLLOWING:  

• Universal Energy Resources Inc. (as of and for the twelve month period ended 31 December 2023) 

– Appendix B to the information document for the listing of Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd. on 

Euronext Growth Oslo.    

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FOLLOWING:   

• Universal Energy Resources Inc. (for the financial years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021) – 

Appendix D to the information document for the listing of Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd. on 

Euronext Growth Oslo.   
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APPENDIX I  

UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR VENTURA OFFSHORE MIDCO LTD.  

(FOR THE PERIOD FROM INCORPORATION TO 30 JUNE 2024)  
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Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd. 
 

 

  

  

CONSOLIDATED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED): Page 

  

Consolidated Statement of Operations for the period from February 24, 2024 (inception) to June 30, 

2024 

2 

  

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2024 3 

  

Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity for the period from February 24, 2024 (inception) to 

June 30, 2024 

4 

  

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow for the period from February 24, 2024 (inception) to June 30, 

2024 

5 

  

Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements 6 

  

  



 

2 

 

 

 

 

 

Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd. 

Consolidated Statement of Operations (unaudited) 
All figures in USD ‘000, except number of shares and per share amount 

 

 Note For the period 

February 24, 2024 – 

June 30, 2024 

Revenues 
 

 

Operating Revenues  4 57,343 

Management Fee Income  1,107 

Total Revenues  58,450 

   

Operating Expenses   

Rig Operating and Maintenance Expenses  (35,099) 

Depreciation and Amortization Expenses 5 (3,731) 

General and Administrative Expenses  (6,743) 

Total Operating Expenses  45,573 

Operating Income  
 

12,877 

Financial income (expenses) 
 

 

Interest Income  478 

Interest Expenses 3 (2,786) 

Total Financial Income (expenses), net 
 

(2,308) 

Net Income Before Income Taxes 
 

10,569 

Income Tax Expense 4 (1,463) 

Net Income   9,106 

Other Comprehensive Income / (Loss)  - 

Total Comprehensive Income   9,106 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd. 

Consolidated Balance Sheet (unaudited) 
All figures in USD ‘000, except number of shares and per share amount 

 

Assets Note As of June 30, 2024 

Current Assets 

  

Cash and Cash Equivalents 11 26,511 

Restricted Cash 10,11 18,170 

Accounts Receivable, Net  28,293 

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets  7,296 

Total Current Assets  80,270 

Non-Current Assets 

  

Vessels and Equipment 5 398,620 

Deferred Tax Assets 4 18,357 

Intangible Assets 3 14,161 

Right-of-Use Assets  8,514 

Total Non-Current Assets  439,652 

Total Assets 
 

519,922 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity   

Current Liabilities   

Accounts Payable  25,585 

Lease Liabilities  9 4,135 

Other Current Liabilities  19,205 

Unfavourable Contracts (current portion) 4 90,896 

Current Portion of Long-Term Debt 6 21,456 

Total Current Liabilities  161,277 

   

Non-Current Liabilities   

Long-Term Debt  6 105,598 

Subordinated Debt – Related Parties  8 162,325 

Unfavourable Contracts 4 73,005 

Lease Liabilities  9 4,379 

Other Non-Current Liabilities  1,585 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  346,892 

    

Commitments and Contingencies  -  

    

Shareholders’ Equity    

Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share 

1,000,000 authorized, 1 share issued and outstanding as of June 30, 

2024 

7 - 

Additional Paid-In Capital  2,647 

Retained Earnings (Accumulated Deficit)  9,106 

Total Shareholders’ Equity  11,753 

Total Liabilities and Equity  519,922 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd. 

Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity (unaudited) 
All figures in USD ‘000, except number of shares 

 
 

Number 

of 

Shares 

Common 

Stock 

Additional 

Paid-In 

Capital 

Accumulated 

Other 

Comprehensive 

(Income) Loss 

Retained Earnings 

(Accumulated 

Deficit) 

Total 

Shareholders’ 

Equity 

Balance as of February 

24, 2024 (inception) 
1 - - - - - 

Net Income  - - - - 9,106 9,106 

Share Based 
compensation 

- - 2,647 - - 2,647 

Other Comprehensive 

(Income) Loss 
- - - - - - 

Balance as of June 30, 

2024 
1 - 2,647 - 9,106 11,753 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd. 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (unaudited) 
All figures in USD ‘000 

 February 24, 2024  

 – 

June 30, 2024 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities  

Net Income (Loss) 9,106 

Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income (Loss) to Net Cash Provided by / (Used In) Operating 

Activities 

 

Amortization of Contract Liabilities   (13,199) 

Share Based Compensation 2,647 

Deferred Tax  1,463 

Amortization of Deferred Financing Cost 186 

Depreciation and Amortization Expense 3,731 

  

  

Changes in Assets and Liabilities:  

Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable  1,396 

Prepaid Expenses, Other Current Assets and Other Current Liabilities  1,188 

Net Cash Provided by / (Used In) Operating Activities 6,518 

  

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
 

Acquisition of business (net of cash acquired)  (250,120) 

Additions to Vessels   (1,246) 

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities (251,366) 

  

Cash Flows from Financing Activities  

Proceeds from Subordinated Loan, related parties 162,325 

Proceeds from Borrowings, net 127,204 

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 289,529 

Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash 44,681 

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash at Beginning of the Period 0 

Effect of foreign exchange on Cash - 

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash at End of the Period 44,681 

 

Supplementary Disclosure of Cash Flow Information  

Cash and Cash Equivalents 26,511 

Restricted Cash 18,170 

Total Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash 44,681 

  

Cash Paid for Interest - 

Cash Paid for Taxes - 

   

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd. 

 

Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

 

 

Note 1 General Information and Business Operations 

 

Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd. was incorporated in Bermuda on March 15, 2024, under the name PS Marine Midco 

Ltd. On May 1, 2024, the name of the company was changed to Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd. The Company is a 100% 

owned subsidiary of Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd. The entity was formed with the intention of raising a bond loan 

together with funding from the parent company to acquire 100% of the shares of Universal Energy Resources Inc (the 

“UER Acquisition”). The Share Purchase Agreement was signed in early March 2024 and the transaction was 

completed on May 8, 2024.  

 

Universal Energy Resources Inc (“UER”) was incorporated on April 25, 1984, and is a company providing contract 

drilling services.  The Company’s main assets being the drillship DS Carolina and the semisubmersible drilling rig 

SSV Victoria, both currently operating in Brazil on long term time-charter contracts with the oil major Petrobras, in 

addition to operating the two vessels, SSV Catarina and DS Zonda owned by third-parties as of June 30, 2024. The 

Company announced on June 27, 2024, that it had entered into an agreement to acquire SSV Catarina and the delivery 

of the vessel took place on July 23, 2024.  

 
 

Note 2 Basis of Preparation of Accounting Policies  

 

Basis of Preparation 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). Amounts are presented in United States Dollars (“U.S. 

dollar or $”), rounded to the nearest thousand, unless stated otherwise. 

 

Principles of Consolidation 

Entities in which the parent company has controlling financial interest are consolidated. Subsidiaries are consolidated 

from the date on which control is obtained. The subsidiaries’ accounting policies are in conformity with U.S. GAAP. 

All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

 

Foreign Currency  

Foreign currency transaction gains or losses are credited or charged to income/expense as incurred. The Company and 

the majority of its subsidiaries use the United States dollar as their functional currency as their revenues and expenses 

are mostly denominated in U.S. dollars and U.S. dollars are also the reporting currency of the Company. For 

subsidiaries located in Brazil with reais as functional currency the accounts have been remeasured into U.S. dollars. 

These books and records have been translated using the monetary-nonmonetary method. Translation losses and gains 

have been included as a component of other comprehensive income. The assets and liabilities recorded in reais are 

primarily monetary and have been translated to U.S. dollars using the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date 

(R$5.60 to U.S. $1 for the period ended June 30, 2024). Results of operations have been translated using the average 

exchange rate during the period. The average exchange rate was R$ 5.26 to U.S. $1 for the reporting period ended 

June 30, 2024. 

 

Use of Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the Company’s management to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 

and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 

reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
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Cash and Cash Equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents consists of highly liquid investments including certificate of deposits with original 

maturities when acquired of three months or less. Cash balances held on behalf of the owners of managed vessels to 

cover expenses and capital expenditure related to these vessels have been presented as restricted cash in the balance 

sheet, together with bank deposits that are used as collateral for guarantees and performance bonds issued by banks. 

 

Receivables and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  

Accounts receivable and other receivables are presented net of allowance for expected credit losses. The Company 

determines an asset is impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Company will 

be unable to recover amounts due according to original contractual terms. No allowance has been made as of June 30, 

2024. 

 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

Financial instruments which potentially subject to the Company to concentrations of credit risk consists primarily of 

cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. The Company’s cash is primarily held in major banks. 

Accordingly, the Company believes the risk of any potential loss on deposits held in these institutions is remote. 

Concentrations of credit risk relative to accounts receivable are limited to our client base in the oil and energy industry 

that may be affected by changes in economic or other external conditions. The Company does not require collateral 

for its accounts receivable. For the period ending June 30, 2024, three customers accounted for 56.8%, 18.0% and 

25.2% of the revenues, respectively. 

 

Deferred Financing and Offering Costs 

The costs associated with raising equity is charged to capital upon completion of the relevant offering or charged to 

operations if the offering is not completed. Financing costs, including fees, commissions and legal expenses are 

deferred and amortized over the term of the debt arrangement, which approximates the effective interest method. 

Incurred initial fees related to loans not yet drawn are presented as Other Current Assets. Unamortized deferred 

financing costs are deducted from the carrying value of the associated financial liability. 

 

Vessels and Equipment  

Vessels and equipment are stated at cost. Operating vessels and equipment are depreciated over the estimated useful 

lives of the assets of 30 years using the straight-line method from the construction date with an estimate for salvage 

value. Additions or improvements that increase the value or extend the life of an asset are capitalized and depreciated. 

Expenditures for normal maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Disposals are removed from the accounts 

at cost less accumulated depreciation, and any gain or loss from disposition is reflected in operations. 

 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets  

The Company periodically assesses the carrying value of its long-lived assets when events or circumstances indicate 

that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability is assessed by comparison of an asset’s 

carrying value to the undiscounted estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by that asset. In the event that 

the Company determines that an asset’s carrying value is not recoverable, the amount of impairment is measured based 

on the fair value of the asset as determined by broker estimates or discounted future cash flows. Management’s 

assumptions are necessarily subjective and are an inherent part of our asset impairment evaluation, and the use of 

different assumptions could produce results that differ from those reported. Our methodology generally involves the 

use of significant unobservable inputs, representative of a Level 3 fair value measurement, which may include 

assumptions related to future dayrate revenue, costs and rig utilization, the long-term future performance of our rigs 

and future market conditions and management’s expectations may not be indicative of actual future outcomes. 

Significant unanticipated changes to these assumptions could materially alter our analysis in testing an asset for 

potential impairment. For example, changes in market conditions that exist at the measurement date or that are 

projected by management could affect our key assumptions. Other events or circumstances that could affect our 

assumptions may include, but are not limited to, a further sustained decline in oil and gas prices, cancellations of our 

drilling contracts or contracts of our competitors, contract modifications, costs to comply with new governmental 

regulations, capital expenditures required due to advances in offshore drilling technology, growth in the global 

oversupply of oil and geopolitical events, such as lifting sanctions on oil-producing nations. Should actual market 

conditions in the future vary significantly from market conditions used in our projections, our assessment of 

impairment would likely be different. No impairment indicators were identified as of June 30, 2024. 
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Revenue Recognition 

Contracts with customers provide for an offshore drilling rig and drilling services on a dayrate contract basis. The 

integrated services provided under our contracts primarily include (i) provision of an offshore drilling rig, the work 

crew and supplies of equipment and services necessary to operate the rig, (ii) mobilization and demobilization of the 

rig to and from the drill site and (iii) performance of rig preparation activities and/or modifications required for each 

contract. 

 

Dayrate Drilling Revenue  

Our drilling contracts generally provide for payment on a dayrate basis, with higher rates for periods when the drilling 

unit is operating and lower rates or zero rates for periods when drilling operations are interrupted, restricted by 

equipment breakdowns, adverse environmental conditions, etc. The dayrate invoices billed to the customer are 

typically determined based on the varying rates applicable to the specific activities performed on an hourly basis. Such 

dayrate consideration is allocated to the distinct hourly increment it relates to within the contract term, and therefore 

recognized in line with the contractual rate billed for the services provided for any given hour.  

 

Certain of our contracts contain performance-based incentives, whereby we may earn a bonus or incur penalties based 

on pre-established performance metrics. Consideration related to the performance incentive is generally recognized in 

the specific time period to which the performance criteria were attributed. 

 

Mobilization/Demobilization Revenue 

We may receive fees (on either a fixed lump-sum or variable dayrate basis) for the mobilization and demobilization 

of our rigs. These activities are not considered to be distinct within the context of the contract, and therefore the 

associated revenue is allocated to the overall performance obligation. We record a contract liability for mobilization 

fees received and amortize such on a straight-line basis to contract drilling revenue as services are rendered over the 

term of the related drilling contract. Demobilization revenue expected to be received upon contract completion is 

estimated as part of the overall transaction price at contract inception and recognized as contract drilling revenue on a 

straight-line basis over the term of the contract with an offset to an accretive contract asset. 

 

In some contracts, there is uncertainty as to the likelihood and amount of expected demobilization revenue to be 

received. For example, contractual provisions may require that a rig demobilize a certain distance before the 

demobilization revenue is payable or the amount may vary dependent upon whether or not the rig has additional 

contracted work within a certain distance from the wellsite. Therefore, the estimate for such revenue may be 

constrained, as described above, depending on the facts and circumstances pertaining to the specific contract. We 

assess the likelihood of receiving such revenue based on our past experience and knowledge of market conditions. 

 

Contract Preparation Revenue 

Some of our drilling contracts require downtime before the start of the contract to prepare the rig to meet customer 

requirements. At times, the customer may compensate us for such work (on either a fixed lump-sum or variable dayrate 

basis). These activities are not considered to be distinct within the context of the contract. We record a contract liability 

for contract preparation upfront fees received, which is amortized on a straight-line basis to contract drilling revenue 

over the term of the related drilling contract. 

 

Capital Modification Revenue  

From time to time, we may receive fees from our customers for capital improvements or upgrades to our rigs to meet 

contractual requirements (on either a fixed lump-sum or variable dayrate basis). The activities related to these capital 

modifications are not considered to be distinct within the context of our contracts. We record a contract liability for 

the upfront fees received and recognize them on a straight-line basis to contract drilling revenue over the term of the 

related drilling contract. 

 

Reimbursement Revenue 

Some operating agreements for the vessels include revenue from reimbursements of expenses where the principal 

relationship exists between the Company and the service providers. The operating expenses are recorded in operating 

revenues. 
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Segment Reporting 

A segment is a distinguishable component of the business that is engaged in business activities from which we earn 

revenues and incur expenses whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker 

("CODM"), and which are subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. We have 

identified two reportable segments being Operations of owned vessels and Operations of managed vessels. 

 

Deferred mobilization costs  

The Company incurs costs to prepare rigs for contract and deliver or mobilize rigs to drilling locations. The Company 

defers pre-operating contract preparation and mobilization costs and recognizes such costs on a straight-line basis over 

the estimated firm period of the drilling contract. Contract preparation and mobilization costs can include costs relating 

to equipment, labor and rig transportation costs (tugs, heavy lift vessel costs), that are directly attributable to our future 

performance obligation under each respective drilling contract. Costs incurred for the demobilization of rigs at contract 

completion are recognized as incurred during the demobilization process. 

 

Intangibles 

Intangible assets represent contractual rights for customer contracts obtained in connection with business acquisitions. 

Contract liabilities represent contractual rights obtained in connection with business acquisitions that have unfavorable 

contractual terms relative to market as of the acquisition dates. The intangibles have definite lives and are amortized 

to revenues over the period of the related contracts. 

 

Leases 

The Company has certain lease contracts for equipment and premises resulting in a right-of-use asset and a lease 

liability and the Company has applied an incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate to calculate the respective 

asset and liability. The Company determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at contract inception. The 

Company recognizes a right-of-use (ROU) asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. For operating 

leases, the lease liability is initially and subsequently measured at the present value of the unpaid lease payments at 

the lease commencement date. Options to renew our lease terms are included in determining the ROU asset and lease 

liability when it is reasonably certain that options will be exercised. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, 

which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for lease payments made at or before the lease 

commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred less any lease incentives received. For operating leases, the 

right-of-use asset is subsequently measured throughout the lease term at the carrying amount of the lease liability, plus 

initial direct costs, plus (minus) any prepaid (accrued) lease payments, less the unamortized balance of lease incentives 

received. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company 

has elected not to recognize leases with an initial term of twelve months or less on the balance sheet. The are 

recognized on a straight-line basis and are recognized in the period as incurred. 

 

Related Parties 

Parties are related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant 

influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also related if they are subject 

to common control or common significant influence. 

 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

Carrying amounts of certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash, cash equivalents and restricted 

cash and accounts receivable, approximate fair value because of their short maturities. For financial instruments 

subject to fair value valuation the Company uses valuation approaches that maximize the use of observable inputs and 

minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible. The Company determines fair value based on 

assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability in the principal or most advantageous 

market.  

 

Share-based Compensation  

The parent company grants stock options as incentive-based compensation to management and employees. The parent 

company has also issued equity settled warrants for certain services consummated by the Company. The Company 

measures the cost of such equity-classified awards using the grant date fair value of the award using representative 

Black-Scholes option pricing models and recognizes the cost over the vesting period. For awards without a vesting 

period the cost is recognized when the service is provided. Forfeitures are accounted for as they occur. 
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Income Taxes 

The Company is a Bermuda registered entity and under current Bermuda law, the Company is not subject to corporate 

income taxes. The Company has several subsidiaries and branches in various jurisdictions subject to different tax 

regimes. The vessel owning entities are registered in British Virgin Islands, which is exempt from taxes. The 

Company’s Brazilian operating company, Ventura Petroleo, is subject to Brazilian taxes and has incurred a significant 

net operating losses since its inception, and therefore has no tax liability nor recognized a deferred tax assets due to 

uncertainty related to utilization. Our income tax expense is based on the tax laws and statutory tax rates in effect in 

the various jurisdictions in which we operate.  

 

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards and Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

The FASB issues Accounting Standards Updates (“ASU”) to communicate changes to the codification. The Company 

considers the applicability and impact of ASUs issued. As of June 30, 2024, no ASUs have been issued that are 

expected to have a material impact on these consolidated financial statements. 

 

 

Note 3 Acquisition of shares in Universal Energy Resources Inc   

 

On March 8, 2024, the Company entered into a Sale and Purchase agreement (“SPA”) to acquire 100% of the shares 

in Universal Energy Resources Inc from Petroserve Marine Inc. for an enterprise value of $280.0 million including 

net free cash of $10 million and targeted net working capital of $12.5 million. The purchase price was subject to 

certain adjustment mechanisms, and the actual purchase price payable to the Seller deviated depending on actual cash 

and net working capital as at the closing of the UER Acquisition. On May 8, 2024, the Company paid $281.0 million 

for the shares in UER including cash and working capital (excluding items related to managed vessels) of $23.5 

million. Subsequent to June 30, 2024, a final closing balance for the transaction was agreed and resulted in a minor 

adjustment to the purchase price. 

 

The transaction is considered as a business combination under ASC 805 and a provisional purchase price allocation 

(“PPA”) has been performed to determine the fair value of the assumed assets and liabilities presented in the table 

below: 

 

 

in USD millions 

Preliminary 

Purchase Price 

Allocation 

Assets:  

Cash and Cash Equivalents 15.3 

Net Working Capital 8.0 

Vessels and Equipment 402.1 

Deferred Tax Assets, net 18.4 

Intangible Assets 14.3 

  

Less liabilities:  

Unfavourable Contract Liability (177.1) 

= Acquisition price paid  281.0 

 

Acquired receivables are towards an oil major where the amount presented in the table above is the gross value and 

no allowance for credit losses has been made as the difference is expected to be immaterial. No adjustments have been 

made to lease liabilities and right-of-use assets as these contracts are of shorter duration and have been considered to 

be at market terms. Contingencies are included in the PPA analysis with $0.8 million. 

 

The acquired intangible assets are related to customer relationships for vessels owned by third parties and these 

intangibles are expected to be amortized over the life of the contracts that ranges from 1.3 years to 2.8 years. The 
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intangibles have been amortized with $0.1 million in the period. Subsequent to June 30, 2024, the Company has 

acquired SSV Catarina, which was under management in the period up to June 30, 2024, and a net of $1.7 million 

related to pre-existing relationships will be recorded in the third quarter of 2024 when accounting for the acquisition 

of SSV Catarina.  

 

We refer to note 4 for information related to the Unfavourable contracts liability and associated deferred tax assets 

and note 5 for Vessels and equipment. 

 

The Company did not have any operations prior to the acquisition of UER on May 8, 2024, and 100% of revenues, 

rig operating and maintenance expenses and depreciation and amortization relates to the acquired business. Included 

in general and administrative expenses of the Company are acquisition related cost of approximately $3.8 million, of 

which $2.6 million is a non-cash expense related to warrants issued. Interest expenses of $2.8 million for the period 

ended June 30, 2024, is related to the borrowings described in note 6. 

 

 

Note 4 Revenues and segment information 

 

The Company’s two owned rigs, DS Carolina and SSV Victoria, are chartered out on three-year contracts to Petrobras. 

The charter contracts include a day rate that is paid partly in US dollars and with an element that is paid in Brazilian 

reais that is adjusted for annual inflation. The three-year contracts commenced in 2023 and expire in the second quarter 

of 2026. 

 

The Company has operating agreements for two vessels owned by third parties, SSV Catarina and DS Zonda. For DS 

Zonda, the Company has been awarded a three-year contract, plus optional three years, with Petrobras. Zonda is 

currently under construction and the vessel is expected to commence operations in Brazil in the first quarter of 2025. 

The operating and marketing agreements have been signed with the owners of Zonda for the operations of the vessel. 

Further, the owner of the vessel assumes the revenues and expenses under the contract period and the Company is 

expected to earn a management fee that is subject to the operational performance of the vessel during the period. 

 

The second vessel, SSV Catarina, has been engaged on a contract in Vietnam in the second quarter of 2024 and the 

Company has earned management fees in this period. We refer to further information in note 3 and 12 regarding the 

Company’s acquisition of this vessel in July 2024.  

 

The acquisition of UER was effective as of May 8, 2024, and the below table includes operating revenues and expenses 

incurred in the period from May 8 to June 30, except for General and Administrative Expenses that is including costs 

incurred from the inception of the Company in February 2024.  

 
 

 in USD thousands 
Operations 

of Owned 

Vessels 

Operations of 

Managed 

Vessels 

Unallocated 

items 

Total 

Operating Revenues 20,034 24,110 13,199 57,343 

Management Fee Income - 1,107 - 1,107 

Sub-total revenues 20,034 25,217 13,199 58,450 

Rig Operating and Maintenance Expenses (10,837) (24,262) - (35,099) 

Depreciation and amortization (3,592) - (139) (3,731) 

General and Administrative expenses - - (6,743) (6,743) 

Operating Income  5,605 955 6,317 12,877 

 

Unallocated general and administrative expenses of $6.7 million in the table above, includes $3.8 million in expenses 

related to the acquisition of UER that includes a non-cash expense of $2.6 million related to warrants issued for 

services (we refer to note 7 for further information). Further, the Company has performed a preliminary purchase price 

allocation, see note 3, where an unfavourable contract liability has been identified as a result of current charter 

contracts being below the prevailing market rates for similar vessels. The unfavourable contract liability of $177.1 

million is amortized over the remaining duration of the contracts for the two owned rigs. For the financial period 

ending June 30, 2024, the Company has recognized a non-cash item of $ 13.2 million related to this and the 
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amortization is presented in the reconciling items in the table above. Further, there is an associated deferred tax asset 

of $19.8 million that has been recognized related to the unfavourable contract liability that is recognized in the same 

manner as the unfavourable contract liability, and the Company has recognized an income tax expense of $1.5 million 

in the period ending June 30, 2024. 

 

Note 5 Vessels and Equipment 

 

Vessels and equipment consist of the cost price and capital expenditure in the period for the two owned vessels, SSV 

Victoria and DS Carolina, and accumulated depreciation. The two vessels were acquired in the acquisition of UER 

described in note 3 and the value of the vessels have been determined in a provisional Purchase Price Allocation. The 

valuation of the vessels has been based on a combination of broker estimates and a discounted cash flow valuation 

model using estimated market rates for the remaining useful life of the vessels on an “as is where is” basis. We refer 

to further information in note 3 related to the preliminary Purchase price Allocation that has been performed and note 

4 regarding unfavourable contracts. 

 

The carrying value of the two vessels as of June 30, 2024: 

 
in USD thousands  

DS Carolina  224,150 

SSV Victoria 174,242 

Other property and Equipment 228 

Total 398,620 

 

Depreciation expense for the financial reporting period ending June 30, 2024, totalled $3.6 million. 

 

 

Note 6 Long-Term Debt 

 

On April 19, 2024, the Company raised a senior secured bond loan with gross and net (of financing costs) proceeds 

of $130.0 million and $127.2 million, respectively, to partly fund the UER Acquisition. First-priority security is 

established in the rigs owned by Universal Energy Resources Inc Group, the shares in Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd. 

and all subsidiaries, together with assignment of earnings and insurances including bank account pledges. The loan is 

amortizing with $30.0 million annually and with quarterly payments of incurred interest and instalments. The first 

interest payment is in the third quarter of 2024 and the first instalment of $7.5 million payable in the fourth quarter 

2024 together with incurred interest, carries a nominal interest per annum of 10.0%, and a remaining balance of $55.0 

million to be paid upon maturity in April 2027. The loan agreement contains financial covenants requiring a loan to 

value of maximum 60% and $10.0 million in minimum liquidity. 

 

Interest expenses consist of interest expense incurred of $2.6 million on the senior secured bond loan and amortization 

of deferred financing cost of $0.2 million. 

 

The annual principal repayments required to be made under the outstanding bond loan as of June 30, 2024, is as 

follows: 

 
in USD thousands  

2024 7,500 

2025 30,000 

2026 30,000 

2027 62,500 

2028 - 

Total outstanding as of June 30, 2024 130,000 

 

The above does not reflect changes to the borrowing facility executed subsequent to June 30, 2024. We refer to further 

information in note 12. 
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Note 7 Shareholders’ Equity and Warrants 

 

Authorized, issued and outstanding common shares roll-forward is as follows: 

 

 

 

Authorized Number 

of Shares 

Issued and Outstanding 

Number of Shares 

Common Stock 

Balance as of February 24, 2024 - - - 

Incorporation of the Company 1,000,000 1 $0 

Balance as of June 30, 2024 1,000,000 1 $0 

 

The authorized share capital of the Company is $1,000,000 with a nominal amount of $0.01 per share. 

 

Warrants 
The parent company has issued 4,250,000 warrants giving the right to subscribe for 1 new share at par value ($0.01) 

in conjunction with the equity offering in the parent company of $170.0 million to raise sufficient funding to acquire 

100% of the shares in UER. The parent company lent $162.3 million of the proceeds to the Company through a sub-

ordinated loan. 

 

A total of 1,700,000 of the warrants were issued to a group of key contributors for their contribution to complete the 

acquisition. The warrants issued are equity settled. The warrants have been considered as a service cost related to 

completing the acquisition of UER by the Company and 100 % of the calculated cost has been recognized in the period 

ending June 30, 2024, equalling $2.6 million. The valuation of the warrants has been done through use of a modified 

Black-Scholes model and with an assumed volatility of 40.1 %, a risk-free interest rate of 4.54 % and duration of 3 

years. 

 

The warrants are exercisable within 3 years, if the share price of the parent company exceeds the following set of 

hurdles: 

- 1/3 at 20% premium to the Offer Price of $2.0 per Share over a period of five consecutive days. 

- 1/3 at 40% premium to the Offer Price of $2.0 per Share over a period of five consecutive days. 

- 1/3 at 60% premium to the Offer Price of $2.0 per Share over a period of five consecutive days. 

 

Two thirds of the warrants have vested as of June 30, 2024, without being exercised.  

 

Note 8 Subordinated Loan, related parties 

 

The Company has borrowed $162.3 million from its parent company through a sub-ordinated non-interest-bearing 

loan. The funds were applied to the acquisition of 100 % of the shares in UER. 

 

Note 9 Leases 

 

The Company’s future minimum lease payments related to the operating leases are as follows: 

 

 
in USD thousands 

 

2024 2,722 

2025 4,934 

2026 2,605 

2027 22 

2028 19 

Total remaining lease payments as of June 30, 2024 10,302 

Less: Imputed Interest  (1,788) 

Present value of lease liabilities 8,514 

 

The weighted average remaining lease term is 2.0 years and the average discount rate is 10.32%. 
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Note 10 Commitment and contingencies 

 

The Company is holding $18.2 million of cash, which is presented as restricted cash, on behalf of the owners of 

Catarina and Zonda for payment of capital expenditure and operating expenses for these vessels.  

 

The Company is providing bank guarantees and performance bonds to counterparties as part of its regular operations. 

As of June 30, 2024, the Company has issued guarantees and performance bonds totalling $3.3 million in relation to 

operation of the managed rigs. The restricted cash of $18.2 million includes cash held as security for these guarantees 

and performance bonds. 

 

In 2008, 2009, 2017 and 2023, the Company received tax assessments from the Brazilian Federal Revenue Service 

that remain unsettled as of June 30, 2024.  Management and its legal counsel are defending the assessments and do 

not believe payment of the assessments is probable.  Therefore, no provision has been provided for in the consolidated 

financial statements of the Company. 

 

The Company could be subject to future review and examination by taxing agencies in the jurisdiction in which the 

Company operates, the results of which management does not believe would have a material adverse effect on the 

Company’s consolidated financial position, operations or cash flows. 

 

 

Note 11 Financial instruments 

 
The Company’s functional currency is United States dollars, and the majority of the Company’s transactions, assets 

and liabilities are denominated in United States dollars. The Company’s two rigs are operating in Brazil and the 

Company incurs certain operational costs in local currency, which would be subject to currency fluctuations. The 

Company has not entered into any derivatives to mitigate this risk, as the foreign currency risk is not assumed to have 

a material negative impact. The Company’s interest-bearing loan has a fixed interest rate and the carrying value is 

assumed to equal its fair value as of June 30, 2024. 

The Company uses valuation approaches for fair value measurements that maximize the use of observable inputs and 

minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible. The Company determines fair value based on 

assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability in the principal or most advantageous 

market. When considering market participant assumptions in fair value measurements, the following fair value 

hierarchy distinguishes between observable and unobservable inputs, which are categorized in one of the following 

levels:   

• Level 1 inputs: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities accessible to 

the reporting entity at the measurement date. 

• Level 2 inputs: Other than quoted prices included in Level 1 inputs that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.  

• Level 3 inputs: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability used to measure fair value to the extent that 

observable inputs are not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market 

activity for the asset or liability at measurement date. 

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments 

and other financial assets.  

- The carrying value of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash is a reasonable estimate of fair value.            

- The estimated fair value for the long-term debt is considered to be approximately equal to the carrying value, 

adjusted for deferred financing cost presented as a reduction of the nominal borrowing amounts due to no 

significant changes in the interest rate levels since inception. 
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The carrying value and estimated fair value of the Company`s financial instruments at June 30, 2024 are as follows: 

 
 in USD thousands 

Fair value 

hierarchy, 

level 

Fair Value  Carrying 

Value 

Cash and Cash Equivalents  1 26,511 26,511 

Restricted Cash 1 18,170 18,170 

Senior secured bond loan 2 130,000 127,054 

 

 

Note 11 Subsequent events  

 

On June 27, 2024, the parent company announced that it had signed a binding memorandum of agreement for the 

acquisition of SSV Catarina for a consideration of $100.0 million in cash, $5.0 million in new shares in the Company, 

certain costs associated with delivery of the vessel, plus a profit-sharing mechanism of 17.5% of the free cash flow 

generated by the vessel for the first five years after delivery. 

 

The delivery of the vessel took place on July 23, 2024, during transit from Vietnam to Indonesia, where the vessel is 

commencing a well based drilling contract with an expected duration of about 300 days, plus an optional five wells 

that could extend the contract period into Q2 2026, if exercised. The vessel commenced the contract in Indonesia on 

August 17. 

 

To finance the acquisition of the vessel, the Company has issued 17,833,333 new shares at NOK 30.0 per share through 

a private placement to raise NOK 535.0 million (about $50.0 million) in gross proceeds, issued 1,766,050 shares at 

NOK 30.0 per share to the sellers to settle $5.0 million of the purchase price, increased the existing bond loan by $55.0 

million from $130.0 million to $185.0 million and entered into a revolving credit agreement of $30.0 million for 

working capital purposes. The revolving credit facility carries an interest of Secured Overnight Financing Rate plus a 

margin of 3.75% upon utilization and has a duration of up to two years. 

 

As part of the increase of the bond loan, the loan amortization is increased from $7.5 million to $ 10.0 million per 

quarter and the liquidity covenant is increased from $10.0 million to $15.0 million. The free liquidity covenant allows 

for the unused portion of the RCF to be included as free liquidity. The financial covenants for the RCF are aligned 

with the covenants for the bond loan, plus certain standard market financial covenants. 

 

Further, the parent company announced that the Board has resolved to establish a share incentive plan consisting of 

1,500,000 stock options for the senior management and key employees of the Company. The stock options are vesting 

with equal portions over a period of three years from grant date and with a strike price of NOK 30.0, equal to the issue 

price in the private placement described above to finance the acquisition of SSV Catarina. The stock options are 

expected to be accounted for in the third quarter of 2024 and with the compensation cost to be expensed over the 

vesting period. 
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Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd. 

Consolidated Statement of Operations (unaudited) 
All figures in USD ‘000, except number of shares and per share amount 

 

 Note For the period 

February 24, 2024 – 

June 30, 2024 

Revenues 
 

 

Operating Revenues  4 57,343 

Management Fee Income  1,107 

Total Revenues  58,450 

   

Operating Expenses   

Rig Operating and Maintenance Expenses  (35,099) 

Depreciation and Amortization Expenses 5 (3,731) 

General and Administrative Expenses  (8,044) 

Total Operating Expenses  (46,874) 

Operating Income  
 

11,576 

Financial Income (Expenses) 
 

 

Interest Income  540 

Interest Expenses 3 (2,786) 

Total Financial Income (Expenses), net 
 

(2,246) 

Net Income Before Income Taxes 
 

9,330 

Income Tax Expense 4 (1,463) 

Net Income   7,867 

Other Comprehensive Income / (Loss)  - 

Total Comprehensive Income   7,867 

   

Basic Income per Share 8 0.23 

Diluted Income per Share 8 0.22 

Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding – 

Basic  

 
33,143,146 

Weighted-Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding –

Diluted 

 
35,826,129 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd. 

Consolidated Balance Sheet (unaudited) 
All figures in USD ‘000, except number of shares and per share amount 

 

Assets Note As of June 30, 2024 

Current Assets 

  

Cash and Cash Equivalents 11 30,633 

Restricted Cash 10,11 18,170 

Accounts Receivable, Net  28,293 

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets  7,317 

Total Current Assets  84,413 

Non-Current Assets 

  

Vessels and Equipment 5 398,620 

Deferred Tax Assets 4 18,357 

Intangible Assets 3 14,161 

Right-of-Use Assets  8,514 

Total Non-Current Assets  439,652 

Total Assets 
 

524,065 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity   

Current Liabilities   

Accounts Payable  26,025 

Lease Liabilities  9 4,135 

Other Current Liabilities  19,305 

Unfavourable Contracts  4 90,896 

Current Portion of Long-Term Debt 6,11 21,456 

Total Current Liabilities  161,817 

   

Non-Current Liabilities   

Long-Term Debt  6,11 105,598 

Unfavourable Contracts 4 73,005 

Lease Liabilities  9 4,379 

Other Non-Current Liabilities  1,585 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  184,567 

    

Commitments and Contingencies  -  

    

Shareholders’ Equity    

Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share 

170,000,000 authorized, 85,000,001 shares issued and outstanding as of 

June 30, 2024 

7 850 

Additional Paid-In Capital 7 168,964 

Retained Earnings   7,867 

Total Shareholders’ Equity  177,681 

Total Liabilities and Equity  524,065 

 

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 



 

4 

 

Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd. 

Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity (unaudited) 
All figures in USD ‘000, except number of shares 

 
 

Number 

of Shares 

Common 

Stock 

Additional 

Paid-In 

Capital 

Accumulated 

Other 

Comprehensive 

(Income) Loss 

Retained Earnings 

(Accumulated 

Deficit) 

Total 

Shareholders’ 

Equity 

Balance as of February 

24, 2024 (inception) 
1 - - - - - 

Net Income  - - - - 7,867 7,867 

Common Shares and 
Warrants Issued  

85,000,000 850 166,317 - - 167,167 

Share Based 

Compensation 
- - 2,647 - - 2,647 

Balance as of June 30, 

2024 
85,000,001 850 168,964 - 7,867 177,681 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd. 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (unaudited) 
All figures in USD ‘000 

 February 24, 2024  

 – 

June 30, 2024 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities  

Net Income  7,867 

Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 
 

Amortization of Contract Liabilities   (13,199) 

Share Based Compensation 2,647 

Deferred Tax  1,463 

Amortization of Deferred Financing Cost 186 

Depreciation and Amortization Expense 3,731 

  

  

Changes in Assets and Liabilities:  

Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable  1,836 

Prepaid Expenses, Other Current Assets and Other Current Liabilities 1,266 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 5,797 

  

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
 

Acquisition of business (net of cash and restricted cash acquired)  (250,120) 

Additions to Vessels   (1,246) 

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities (251,366) 

  

Cash Flows from Financing Activities  

Proceeds from Share Offering, net 167,168 

Proceeds from Borrowings, net 127,204 

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 294,372 

Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash 48,803 

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash at Beginning of the Period 0 

Effect of foreign exchange on Cash - 

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash at End of the Period 48,803 

 

Supplementary Disclosure of Cash Flow Information  

Cash and Cash Equivalents 30,633 

Restricted Cash 18,170 

Total Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash 48,803 

  

Cash Paid for Interest - 

Cash Paid for Taxes - 

   

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd. 

 

Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

 

 

Note 1 General Information and Business Operations 

 

Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd. was incorporated in Bermuda on February 24, 2024, under the name PS Marine 

Holding Ltd. On May 1, 2024, the name of the company was changed to Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd. Further, the 

100% owned subsidiary, Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd, was incorporated in March 2024.  These two entities were 

formed with the intention of raising capital through equity and a bond loan to acquire 100% of the shares of Universal 

Energy Resources Inc (the “UER Acquisition”). The Share Purchase Agreement was signed in early March 2024 and 

the transaction was completed on May 8, 2024.  

 

Universal Energy Resources Inc (“UER”) was incorporated on April 25, 1984, and is a company providing contract 

drilling services.  The Company’s main assets being the drillship DS Carolina and the semisubmersible drilling rig 

SSV Victoria, both currently operating in Brazil on long term time-charter contracts with the oil major Petrobras, in 

addition to operating the two vessels, SSV Catarina and DS Zonda, owned by third-parties as of June 30, 2024. The 

Company announced on June 27, 2024, that it had entered into an agreement to acquire SSV Catarina and the delivery 

of the vessel took place on July 23, 2024.  
 

Note 2 Basis of Preparation of Accounting Policies  

 

Basis of Preparation 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). Amounts are presented in United States Dollars (“U.S. 

dollar or $”), rounded to the nearest thousand, unless stated otherwise. 

 

Principles of Consolidation 

Entities in which the parent company has controlling financial interest are consolidated. Subsidiaries are consolidated 

from the date on which control is obtained. The subsidiaries’ accounting policies are in conformity with U.S. GAAP. 

All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

 

Foreign Currency  

Foreign currency transaction gains or losses are credited or charged to income/expense as incurred. The Company and 

the majority of its subsidiaries use the United States dollar as their functional currency as their revenues and expenses 

are mostly denominated in U.S. dollars and U.S. dollars are also the reporting currency of the Company. For 

subsidiaries located in Brazil with reais as functional currency the accounts have been remeasured into U.S. dollars. 

These books and records have been translated using the monetary-nonmonetary method. Translation losses and gains 

have been included as a component of other comprehensive income. The assets and liabilities recorded in reais are 

primarily monetary and have been translated to U.S. dollars using the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date 

(R$5.60 to U.S. $1 for the period ended June 30, 2024). Results of operations have been translated using the average 

exchange rate during the period. The average exchange rate was R$ 5.26 to U.S. $1 for the reporting period ended 

June 30, 2024. 

 

Use of Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the Company’s management to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 

and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 

reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
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Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash  

Cash and cash equivalents consists of highly liquid investments including certificate of deposits with original 

maturities when acquired of three months or less. Cash balances held on behalf of the owners of managed vessels to 

cover expenses and capital expenditure related to these vessels have been presented as restricted cash in the balance 

sheet, together with bank deposits that are used as collateral for guarantees and performance bonds issued by banks. 

 

Receivables and Allowance for Expected Credit Losses  

Accounts receivable and other receivables are presented net of allowance for expected credit losses. The Company 

determines an asset is impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Company will 

be unable to recover amounts due according to original contractual terms. No allowance has been made as of June 30, 

2024. 

 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

Financial instruments which potentially subject to the Company to concentrations of credit risk consists primarily of 

cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and accounts receivable. The Company’s cash is primarily held in major banks. 

Accordingly, the Company believes the risk of any potential loss on deposits held in these institutions is remote. 

Concentrations of credit risk relative to accounts receivable are limited to our client base in the oil and energy industry 

that may be affected by changes in economic or other external conditions. The Company does not require collateral 

for its accounts receivable. For the period ending June 30, 2024, three customers accounted for 56.8%, 18.0% and 

25.2% of the revenues, respectively. 

 

Deferred Financing and Offering Costs 

The costs associated with raising equity is charged to capital upon completion of the relevant offering or charged to 

operations if the offering is not completed. Financing costs, including fees, commissions and legal expenses are 

deferred and amortized over the term of the debt arrangement, which approximates the effective interest method. 

Incurred initial fees related to loans not yet drawn are presented as Other Current Assets. Unamortized deferred 

financing costs are deducted from the carrying value of the associated financial liability. 

 

Vessels and Equipment  

Vessels and equipment are stated at cost. Operating vessels and equipment are depreciated over the estimated useful 

lives of the assets of 30 years using the straight-line method from the construction date with an estimate for salvage 

value. Additions or improvements that increase the value or extend the life of an asset are capitalized and depreciated. 

Expenditures for normal maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Disposals are removed from the accounts 

at cost less accumulated depreciation, and any gain or loss from disposition is reflected in operations. 

 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets  

The Company periodically assesses the carrying value of its long-lived assets when events or circumstances indicate 

that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability is assessed by comparison of an asset’s 

carrying value to the undiscounted estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by that asset. In the event that 

the Company determines that an asset’s carrying value is not recoverable, the amount of impairment is measured based 

on the fair value of the asset as determined by broker estimates or discounted future cash flows. Management’s 

assumptions are necessarily subjective and are an inherent part of our asset impairment evaluation, and the use of 

different assumptions could produce results that differ from those reported. Our methodology generally involves the 

use of significant unobservable inputs, representative of a Level 3 fair value measurement, which may include 

assumptions related to future dayrate revenue, costs and rig utilization, the long-term future performance of our rigs 

and future market conditions and management’s expectations may not be indicative of actual future outcomes. 

Significant unanticipated changes to these assumptions could materially alter our analysis in testing an asset for 

potential impairment. For example, changes in market conditions that exist at the measurement date or that are 

projected by management could affect our key assumptions. Other events or circumstances that could affect our 

assumptions may include, but are not limited to, a further sustained decline in oil and gas prices, cancellations of our 

drilling contracts or contracts of our competitors, contract modifications, costs to comply with new governmental 

regulations, capital expenditures required due to advances in offshore drilling technology, growth in the global 

oversupply of oil and geopolitical events, such as lifting sanctions on oil-producing nations. Should actual market 

conditions in the future vary significantly from market conditions used in our projections, our assessment of 

impairment would likely be different. No impairment indicators were identified as of June 30, 2024. 
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Revenue Recognition 

Contracts with customers provide for an offshore drilling rig and drilling services on a dayrate contract basis. The 

integrated services provided under our contracts primarily include (i) provision of an offshore drilling rig, the work 

crew and supplies of equipment and services necessary to operate the rig, (ii) mobilization and demobilization of the 

rig to and from the drill site and (iii) performance of rig preparation activities and/or modifications required for each 

contract. 

 

Dayrate Drilling Revenue  

Our drilling contracts generally provide for payment on a dayrate basis, with higher rates for periods when the drilling 

unit is operating and lower rates or zero rates for periods when drilling operations are interrupted, restricted by 

equipment breakdowns, adverse environmental conditions, etc. The dayrate invoices billed to the customer are 

typically determined based on the varying rates applicable to the specific activities performed on an hourly basis. Such 

dayrate consideration is allocated to the distinct hourly increment it relates to within the contract term, and therefore 

recognized in line with the contractual rate billed for the services provided for any given hour.  

 

Certain of our contracts contain performance-based incentives, whereby we may earn a bonus or incur penalties based 

on pre-established performance metrics. Consideration related to the performance incentive is generally recognized in 

the specific time period to which the performance criteria were attributed. 

 

Mobilization/Demobilization Revenue 

We may receive fees (on either a fixed lump-sum or variable dayrate basis) for the mobilization and demobilization 

of our rigs. These activities are not considered to be distinct within the context of the contract, and therefore the 

associated revenue is allocated to the overall performance obligation. We record a contract liability for mobilization 

fees received and amortize such on a straight-line basis to contract drilling revenue as services are rendered over the 

term of the related drilling contract. Demobilization revenue expected to be received upon contract completion is 

estimated as part of the overall transaction price at contract inception and recognized as contract drilling revenue on a 

straight-line basis over the term of the contract with an offset to an accretive contract asset. 

 

In some contracts, there is uncertainty as to the likelihood and amount of expected demobilization revenue to be 

received. For example, contractual provisions may require that a rig demobilize a certain distance before the 

demobilization revenue is payable or the amount may vary dependent upon whether or not the rig has additional 

contracted work within a certain distance from the wellsite. Therefore, the estimate for such revenue may be 

constrained, as described above, depending on the facts and circumstances pertaining to the specific contract. We 

assess the likelihood of receiving such revenue based on our past experience and knowledge of market conditions. 

 

Contract Preparation Revenue 

Some of our drilling contracts require downtime before the start of the contract to prepare the rig to meet customer 

requirements. At times, the customer may compensate us for such work (on either a fixed lump-sum or variable dayrate 

basis). These activities are not considered to be distinct within the context of the contract. We record a contract liability 

for contract preparation upfront fees received, which is amortized on a straight-line basis to contract drilling revenue 

over the term of the related drilling contract. 

 

Capital Modification Revenue  

From time to time, we may receive fees from our customers for capital improvements or upgrades to our rigs to meet 

contractual requirements (on either a fixed lump-sum or variable dayrate basis). The activities related to these capital 

modifications are not considered to be distinct within the context of our contracts. We record a contract liability for 

the upfront fees received and recognize them on a straight-line basis to contract drilling revenue over the term of the 

related drilling contract. 

 

Reimbursement Revenue 

Some operating agreements for the vessels include revenue from reimbursements of expenses where the principal 

relationship exists between the Company and the service providers. The operating expenses are recorded in operating 

revenues. 
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Segment Reporting 

A segment is a distinguishable component of the business that is engaged in business activities from which we earn 

revenues and incur expenses whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker 

("CODM") (our Board of Directors), and which are subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other 

segments. We have identified two reportable segments being Operations of owned vessels and Operations of managed 

vessels. 

 

Deferred mobilization costs  

The Company incurs costs to prepare rigs for contract and deliver or mobilize rigs to drilling locations. The Company 

defers pre-operating contract preparation and mobilization costs and recognizes such costs on a straight-line basis over 

the estimated firm period of the drilling contract. Contract preparation and mobilization costs can include costs relating 

to equipment, labor and rig transportation costs (tugs, heavy lift vessel costs), that are directly attributable to our future 

performance obligation under each respective drilling contract. Costs incurred for the demobilization of rigs at contract 

completion are recognized as incurred during the demobilization process. 

 

Intangibles 

Intangible assets represent contractual rights for customer contracts obtained in connection with business acquisitions. 

Contract liabilities represent contractual rights obtained in connection with business acquisitions that have unfavorable 

contractual terms relative to market as of the acquisition dates. The intangibles have definite lives and are amortized 

to revenues over the period of the related contracts. 

 

Leases 

The Company has certain lease contracts for equipment and premises resulting in a right-of-use asset and a lease 

liability and the Company has applied an incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate to calculate the respective 

asset and liability. The Company determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at contract inception. The 

Company recognizes a right-of-use (ROU) asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. For operating 

leases, the lease liability is initially and subsequently measured at the present value of the unpaid lease payments at 

the lease commencement date. Options to renew our lease terms are included in determining the ROU asset and lease 

liability when it is reasonably certain that options will be exercised. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, 

which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for lease payments made at or before the lease 

commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred less any lease incentives received. For the operating leases, 

the right-of-use asset is subsequently measured throughout the lease term at the carrying amount of the lease liability, 

plus initial direct costs, plus (minus) any prepaid (accrued) lease payments, less the unamortized balance of lease 

incentives received. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The 

Company has elected not to recognize leases with an initial term of twelve months or less on the balance sheet. The 

are recognized on a straight-line basis and are recognized in the period as incurred. 

 

Related Parties 

Parties are related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant 

influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also related if they are subject 

to common control or common significant influence. 

 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

Carrying amounts of certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash, cash equivalents and restricted 

cash and accounts receivable, approximate fair value because of their short maturities. For financial instruments 

subject to fair value valuation the Company uses valuation approaches that maximize the use of observable inputs and 

minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible. The Company determines fair value based on 

assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability in the principal or most advantageous 

market.  

 

Share-based Compensation  

The Company grants stock options as incentive-based compensation to management, employees and board members. 

The Company has also issued equity settled warrants for certain services. The Company measures the cost of such 

equity-classified awards using the grant date fair value of the award using representative Black-Scholes option pricing 

models and recognizes the cost over the vesting period. For awards without a vesting period the cost is recognized 

when the service is provided. Forfeitures are accounted for as they occur. 
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Income Taxes 

The Company is a Bermuda registered entity and under current Bermuda law, the Company is not subject to corporate 

income taxes. The Company has several subsidiaries and branches in various jurisdictions subject to different tax 

regimes. The vessel owning entities are registered in British Virgin Islands, which is exempt from taxes. The 

Company’s Brazilian operating company, Ventura Petroleo, is subject to Brazilian taxes and has incurred a significant 

net operating losses since its inception, and therefore has no tax liability nor recognized a deferred tax assets due to 

uncertainty related to utilization. Our income tax expense is based on the tax laws and statutory tax rates in effect in 

the various jurisdictions in which we operate.  

 

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards and Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

The FASB issues Accounting Standards Updates (“ASU”) to communicate changes to the codification. The Company 

considers the applicability and impact of ASUs issued. As of June 30, 2024, no ASUs have been issued that are 

expected to have a material impact on these consolidated financial statements. 

 

 

Note 3 Acquisition of shares in Universal Energy Resources Inc   

 

On March 8, 2024, the Company entered into a Sale and Purchase agreement (“SPA”) to acquire 100% of the shares 

in Universal Energy Resources Inc from Petroserv Marine Inc. for an enterprise value of $280.0 million including net 

free cash of $10 million and targeted net working capital of $12.5 million. The purchase price was subject to certain 

adjustment mechanisms, and the actual purchase price payable to the Seller deviated depending on actual cash and net 

working capital as at the closing of the UER Acquisition. On May 8, 2024, the Company paid $281.0 million for the 

shares in UER including cash and working capital (excluding items related to managed vessels) of $23.5 million. 

Subsequent to June 30, 2024, a final closing balance for the transaction was agreed and resulted in a minor adjustment 

to the purchase price. 

 

The transaction is considered as a business combination under ASC 805 and a provisional purchase price allocation 

(“PPA”) has been performed to determine the fair value of the assumed assets and liabilities presented in the table 

below: 

 

 

in USD millions 

Preliminary 

Purchase Price 

Allocation 

Assets:  

Cash and Cash Equivalents 15.3 

Net Working Capital 8.0 

Vessels and Equipment 402.1 

Deferred Tax Assets, net 18.4 

Intangible Assets 14.3 

  

Less liabilities:  

Unfavourable Contract Liability (177.1) 

= Acquisition price paid  281.0 

 

Acquired receivables are towards an oil major where the amount presented in the table above is the gross value and 

no allowance for credit losses has been made as the difference is expected to be immaterial. No adjustments have been 

made to lease liabilities and right-of-use assets as these contracts are of shorter duration and have been considered to 

be at market terms. Contingencies are included in the PPA analysis with $0.8 million. 

 

The acquired intangible assets are related to customer relationships for vessels owned by third parties and these 

intangibles are expected to be amortized over the life of the contracts that ranges from 1.3 years to 2.8 years. The 
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intangibles have been amortized with $0.1 million in the period. Subsequent to June 30, 2024, the Company has 

acquired SSV Catarina, which was under management in the period up to June 30, 2024, and a net of $1.7 million 

related to pre-existing relationships will be recorded in the third quarter of 2024 when accounting for the acquisition 

of SSV Catarina.  

 

We refer to note 4 for information related to the Unfavourable contracts liability and associated deferred tax assets 

and note 5 for Vessels and equipment. 

 

The Company did not have any operations prior to the acquisition of UER on May 8, 2024, and 100% of revenues, rig 

operating and maintenance expenses and depreciation and amortization relates to the acquired business. Included in 

general and administrative expenses of the Company are acquisition related cost of approximately $3.8 million of 

which $2.6 million is a non-cash expense related to warrants issued. Interest expenses of $2.8 million for the period 

ended June 30, 2024, is related to the borrowings described in note 6. 

 

Supplemental Pro Forma Information 

The parent company in the group was incorporated in February 2024 and no comparative balance sheet or profit and 

loss figures have been presented. The acquired business, Universal Energy Resources Inc (“UER”), has had operating 

activities for many years. The unaudited pro forma financial information is prepared to illustrate how the acquisition 

would have affected the Group’s consolidated revenue and earnings for the six months period ending 30 June 2024 as 

if the acquisition had taken place with effect from 1 January 2024 and is compiled based upon the following 

information: 

 

1) The unaudited consolidated management accounts for Universal Energy Resources Inc for the six months 

period ended 30 June 2024  

2) The SPA for the acquisition of the shares in Universal Energy Resources Inc.;  

3) The 10.00% interest Senior secured bond loan of USD 130.0 million agreement described in note 6 used to 

fund the transaction is assumed to be outstanding from January 1;  

4) The preliminary PPA valuation for certain assets and liabilities including amortization of the unfavourable 

contract liability, intangible assets and associated deferred tax balances; 

5) The reversal of recorded restructuring gains of $52.8 million related to the previous owner of UER; 

6) Other management prepared information regarding certain assets and liabilities  

 

 

UER 

January 1 – June 30 

Pro Forma 

adjustments 

Pro Forma figures 

Jan 1 – June 30 

Revenues 112,209 42,101 154,310 

Net Income  39,932 (2,834) 37,098 

 

Because of its nature, the pro forma financial information addresses a hypothetical situation prepared for illustrative 

purposes only and, therefore, does not represent the Group’s actual financial position if the acquisition had in fact 

occurred on 1 January 2024 and is not representative of the results of operations for any future periods. 

 

Note 4 Revenues and segment information 

 

The Company’s two owned rigs, DS Carolina and SSV Victoria, are chartered out on three-year contracts to Petrobras. 

The charter contracts include a day rate that is paid partly in US dollars and with an element that is paid in Brazilian 

reais that is adjusted for annual inflation. The three-year contracts commenced in 2023 and expire in the second quarter 

of 2026. 

 

The Company has operating agreements for two vessels owned by third parties, SSV Catarina and DS Zonda. For DS 

Zonda, the Company has been awarded a three-year contract, plus optional three years, with Petrobras. Zonda is 

currently under construction and the vessel is expected to commence operations in Brazil in the first quarter of 2025. 

The operating and marketing agreements have been signed with the owners of Zonda for the operations of the vessel. 

Further, the owner of the vessel assumes the revenues and expenses under the contract period and the Company is 

expected to earn a management fee that is subject to the operational performance of the vessel during the period. 
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The second vessel, SSV Catarina, has been engaged on a contract in Vietnam in the second quarter of 2024 and the 

Company has earned management fees in this period. We refer to further information in note 3 and 12 regarding the 

Company’s acquisition of this vessel in July 2024.  

 

The acquisition of UER was effective as of May 8, 2024, and the below table includes operating revenues and expenses 

incurred in the period from May 8 to June 30, except for General and Administrative Expenses that is including costs 

incurred from the inception of the Company in February 2024.  

 
 

 in USD thousands 
Operations 

of Owned 

Vessels 

Operations of 

Managed 

Vessels 

Unallocated 

items 

Total 

Operating Revenues 20,034 24,110 13,199 57,343 

Management Fee Income - 1,107 - 1,107 

Sub-total revenues 20,034 25,217 13,199 58,450 

Rig Operating and Maintenance Expenses (10,837) (24,262) - (35,099) 

Depreciation and amortization (3,592) - (139) (3,731) 

General and Administrative expenses - - (8,044) (8,044) 

Operating Income  5,605 955 5,016 11,576 

 

Unallocated general and administrative expenses of $8.0 million in the table above, includes expenses of about $1.0 

million associated with the stock exchange listing of the parent company and $3.8 million in expenses related to the 

acquisition of UER that includes a non-cash expense of $2.6 million related to warrants issued for services (we refer 

to note 7 for further information). Further, the Company has performed a preliminary purchase price allocation, see 

note 3, where an unfavourable contract liability has been identified as a result of current charter contracts being below 

the prevailing market rates for similar vessels. The unfavourable contract liability of $177.1 million is amortized over 

the remaining duration of the contracts for the two owned rigs. For the financial period ending June 30, 2024, the 

Company has recognized a non-cash item of $ 13.2 million related to this and the amortization is presented in the 

reconciling items in the table above. Further, there is an associated deferred tax asset of $19.8 million that has been 

recognized related to the unfavourable contract liability that is recognized in the same manner as the unfavourable 

contract liability, and the Company has recognized an income tax expense of $1.5 million in the period ending June 

30, 2024. 

 

 

Note 5 Vessels and Equipment 

 

Vessels and equipment consist of the cost price and capital expenditure in the period for the two owned vessels, SSV 

Victoria and DS Carolina, and accumulated depreciation. The two vessels were acquired in the acquisition of UER 

described in note 3 and the value of the vessels have been determined in a provisional Purchase Price Allocation. The 

valuation of the vessels has been based on a combination of broker estimates and a discounted cash flow valuation 

model using estimated market rates for the remaining useful life of the vessels on an “as is where is” basis. We refer 

to further information in note 3 related to the preliminary Purchase price Allocation that has been performed and note 

4 regarding unfavourable contracts. 

 

The carrying value of the two vessels as of June 30, 2024: 

 
in USD thousands  

DS Carolina  224,150 

SSV Victoria 174,242 

Other property and Equipment 228 

Total 398,620 

 

Depreciation expense for the financial reporting period ending June 30, 2024, totalled $3.6 million. 
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Note 6 Long-Term Debt 

 

On April 19, 2024, the Company's wholly owned subsidiary, Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd., raised a senior secured 

bond loan with gross and net (of financing costs) proceeds of $130.0 million and $127.2 million, respectively, to partly 

fund the UER Acquisition. First-priority security is established in the rigs owned by Universal Energy Resources Inc 

Group, the shares in Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd. and all subsidiaries, together with assignment of earnings and 

insurances including bank account pledges. The loan is amortizing with $30.0 million annually and with quarterly 

payments of incurred interest and instalments. The first interest payment is in the third quarter of 2024 and the first 

instalment of $7.5 million payable in the fourth quarter 2024 together with incurred interest, carries a nominal interest 

per annum of 10.0%, and a remaining balance of $55.0 million to be paid upon maturity in April 2027. The loan 

agreement contains financial covenants requiring a loan to value of maximum 60% and $10.0 million in minimum 

liquidity. 

 

Interest expenses consist of interest expense incurred of $2.6 million on the senior secured bond loan and amortization 

of deferred financing cost of $0.2 million. 

 

The annual principal repayments required to be made under the outstanding bond loan as of June 30, 2024, is as 

follows: 

 
in USD thousands  

2024 7,500 

2025 30,000 

2026 30,000 

2027 62,500 

2028 - 

Total outstanding as of June 30, 2024 130,000 

 

The above does not reflect changes to the borrowing facility executed subsequent to June 30, 2024. We refer to further 

information in note 12. 

 

 

Note 7 Shareholders’ Equity and Warrants 

 

Authorized, issued and outstanding common shares roll-forward is as follows: 

 

 

 

Authorized Number 

of Shares 

Issued and Outstanding 

Number of Shares 

Common Stock 

Balance as of February 24, 2024 - - - 

Incorporation of the Company 1,000,000 1 $0 

Share Offering  169,000,000 85,000,000 $850,000 

Balance as of June 30, 2024 170,000,000 85,000,001 $850,000 

 

The authorized share capital of the Company is $1,700,000 with a nominal amount of $0.01 per share. 

 

The share offering of $170.0 million, and registration of the shares was completed on May 10, 2024, in conjunction 

with completion of the UER Transaction resulting in 85.0 million new shares being issued at $2.0 per share. In 

conjunction with this offering, the number of authorized shares was increased to 170,000,000. The Company incurred 

approximately $2.8 million in transactions costs that has been recorded as a reduction of the share premium account. 

The Company’s share premium fund as defined by Bermuda law is included in Additional Paid-in Capital. 

 

Subsequent to June 30, 2024, the Company has raised new equity of NOK 535.0 million (about $50 million) in gross 

proceeds through issuing 17,833,333 new shares at NOK 30 per share to finance the acquisition of SSV Catarina, 

described in note 3, 6 and 12 and further issued 1,766,050 shares at NOK 30 per share to settle $5.0 million of the 

total consideration agreed with the sellers.    
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Warrants 
A consortium of investors prepaid subscribed equity of $28.0 million in March 2024 and allowed for this to be applied 

to a deposit of the same amount related to the SPA, signed in early March 2024, for acquisition of 100% of the shares 

in UER. The acquisition was completed on May 8, 2024. The amount of $28.0 million was used to subscribe for shares 

in the equity offering of $170.0 million, at $2.0 per share, that was effectuated in conjunction with completion of the 

UER Acquisition. 

 

Further, the Company issued a total of 4,250,000 warrants to the consortium with each warrant giving the right to 

subscribe for 1 new share at par value ($0.01), where 2,550,000 warrants were issued in relation to the prepaid 

subscribed equity and the remaining 1,700,000 warrants were issued to the key contributors for their contribution to 

complete the acquisition. All warrants issued are equity settled. The warrants associated with the prepaid subscribed 

equity has been recorded as equity and the warrants issued to the key contributors have been considered as a service 

cost related to completing the acquisition and 100 % of the calculated cost has been recognized in the period ending 

June 30, 2024, equalling $2.6 million. The valuation of the warrants has been done through use of a modified Black-

Scholes model and with an assumed volatility of 40.1 %, a risk-free interest rate of 4.54 % and duration of 3 years. 

 

The warrants are exercisable within 3 years, if the share price of the Company exceeds the following set of hurdles: 

- 1/3 at 20% premium to the Offer Price of $2.0 per Share over a period of five consecutive days. 

- 1/3 at 40% premium to the Offer Price of $2.0 per Share over a period of five consecutive days. 

- 1/3 at 60% premium to the Offer Price of $2.0 per Share over a period of five consecutive days. 

 

Two thirds of the warrants have vested as of June 30, 2024, and are outstanding and unexercised. The warrants have 

a strike price of $0.01 per share and the vested number of warrants have been included in the calculation of basic 

earnings per share for the period ending June 30, 2024.  

 

The chairman of the board is holding, directly and indirectly, 987,607 warrants and two of the board members were 

granted a total of 100,000 stock options on June 5, 2024. The stock options are vesting with equal parts over a period 

of three years and has a strike price of $2.0 per share.  

 

 

Note 8 Earnings per Share 

 

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) are computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of common 

shares outstanding for the period. The basic EPS denominator includes warrants vested, where no or little 

consideration is required, and are included in the calculation from their vesting date. 

 

Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of common shares and dilutive 

common stock equivalents (warrants) outstanding during the period. Dilutive common stock equivalents have been 

included from their issuance date. 

 

In USD thousands, except shares and per share data February 24, 2024 – 

June 30, 2024 

Numerator for earnings per share  

Net Income (Loss) $7,867 

  

Denominator for earnings per share  

Basic weighted average number of common shares 33,143,146 

Diluted weighted average number of common shares 35,826,129 

  

Income per share – basic 0.23 

Income per share - diluted 0.22 
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Note 9 Leases 

 

The Company’s future minimum lease payments related to the operating leases are as follows: 

 

 
in USD thousands 

As of June 30, 2024 

2024 2,722 

2025 4,934 

2026 2,605 

2027 22 

2028 19 

Total remaining lease payments as of June 30, 2024 10,302 

Less: Imputed Interest  (1,788) 

Present value of lease liabilities 8,514 

 

The weighted average remaining lease term is 2.0 years and the average discount rate is 10.32%. 

 

 

Note 10 Commitment and contingencies 

 

The Company is holding $18.2 million of cash, which is presented as restricted cash, on behalf of the owners of 

Catarina and Zonda for payment of capital expenditure and operating expenses for these vessels.  

 

The Company is providing bank guarantees and performance bonds to counterparties as part of its regular operations. 

As of June 30, 2024, the Company has issued guarantees and performance bonds totalling $3.3 million in relation to 

operation of the managed rigs. The restricted cash of $18.2 million includes cash held as security for these guarantees 

and performance bonds. 

 

In 2008, 2009, 2017 and 2023, the Company received tax assessments from the Brazilian Federal Revenue Service 

that remain unsettled as of June 30, 2024.  Management and its legal counsel are defending the assessments and do 

not believe payment of the assessments is probable.  Therefore, no provision has been provided for in the consolidated 

financial statements of the Company. 

 

The Company could be subject to future review and examination by taxing agencies in the jurisdiction in which the 

Company operates, the results of which management does not believe would have a material adverse effect on the 

Company’s consolidated financial position, operations or cash flows. 

 

 

Note 11 Financial instruments 

 
The Company’s functional currency is United States dollars, and the majority of the Company’s transactions, assets 

and liabilities are denominated in United States dollars. The Company’s two rigs are operating in Brazil and the 

Company incurs certain operational costs in local currency, which would be subject to currency fluctuations. The 

Company has not entered into any derivatives to mitigate this risk, as the foreign currency risk is not assumed to have 

a material negative impact. The Company’s interest-bearing loan has a fixed interest rate and the carrying value is 

assumed to equal its fair value as of June 30, 2024. 

The Company uses valuation approaches for fair value measurements that maximize the use of observable inputs and 

minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible. The Company determines fair value based on 

assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability in the principal or most advantageous 

market. When considering market participant assumptions in fair value measurements, the following fair value 

hierarchy distinguishes between observable and unobservable inputs, which are categorized in one of the following 

levels:   
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• Level 1 inputs: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities accessible to 

the reporting entity at the measurement date. 

• Level 2 inputs: Other than quoted prices included in Level 1 inputs that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.  

• Level 3 inputs: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability used to measure fair value to the extent that 

observable inputs are not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market 

activity for the asset or liability at measurement date. 

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments 

and other financial assets.  

- The carrying value of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash is a reasonable estimate of fair value.            

- The estimated fair value for the long-term debt is considered to be approximately equal to the carrying value, 

adjusted for deferred financing cost presented as a reduction of the nominal borrowing amounts due to no 

significant changes in the interest rate levels since inception. 

 
The carrying value and estimated fair value of the Company`s financial instruments at June 30, 2024 are as follows: 

 

 in USD thousands 
Fair value 

hierarchy, 

level 

Fair Value  Carrying 

Value 

Cash and Cash Equivalents  1 30,633 30,633 

Restricted Cash 1 18,170 18,170 

Senior secured bond loan 2 130,000 127,054 

 

 

Note 12 Subsequent events  

 

On June 27, 2024, the Company announced that it had signed a binding memorandum of agreement for the acquisition 

of SSV Catarina for a consideration of $100.0 million in cash, $5.0 million in new shares in the Company, certain 

costs associated with delivery of the vessel, plus a profit-sharing mechanism of 17.5% of the free cash flow generated 

by the vessel for the first five years after delivery. 

 

The delivery of the vessel took place on July 23, 2024, during transit from Vietnam to Indonesia, where the vessel is 

commencing a well based drilling contract with an expected duration of about 300 days, plus an optional five wells 

that could extend the contract period into Q2 2026, if exercised. The vessel commenced the contract in Indonesia on 

August 17. 

 

To finance the acquisition of the vessel, the Company has issued 17,833,333 new shares at NOK 30.0 per share through 

a private placement to raise NOK 535.0 million (about $50.0 million) in gross proceeds, issued 1,766,050 shares at 

NOK 30.0 per share to the sellers to settle $5.0 million of the purchase price, increased the existing bond loan by $55.0 

million from $130.0 million to $185.0 million and further entered into a revolving credit agreement of $30.0 million 

for working capital purposes. The revolving credit facility carries an interest of Secured Overnight Financing Rate 

plus a margin of 3.75% upon utilization and has a duration of up to two years. 

 

As part of the increase of the bond loan, the loan amortization is increased from $7.5 million to $ 10.0 million per 

quarter and the liquidity covenant is increased from $10.0 million to $15.0 million. The free liquidity covenant allows 

for the unused portion of the RCF to be included as free liquidity. The financial covenants for the RCF are aligned 

with the covenants for the bond loan, plus certain standard market financial covenants. 

 

Further, the Company announced that the Board has resolved to establish a share incentive plan consisting of 

1,500,000 stock options for the senior management and key employees. The stock options are vesting with equal 

portions over a period of three years from grant date and with a strike price of NOK 30.0, equal to the issue price in 

the private placement described above to finance the acquisition of SSV Catarina. The stock options are expected to 

be accounted for in the third quarter of 2024 and with the compensation cost to be expensed over the vesting period.  
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Responsibility statement  

 

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge, the consolidated financial statements for the period from inception on 

February 24, 2024 to June 30, 2024, have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 

in the United States of America, and give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and results of 

the Company. 

 

 

 

The Board of Directors of Ventura Offshore Holding Ltd., 

 

 

August 30, 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

s/Gunnar W Eliassen      s/Guilherme Coelho 

 

_______________________     _______________________ 

Gunnar W Eliassen, Chairperson     Guilherme Coelho, CEO & Board member 

 

 

 

 

s/Børge Johansen       s/Michael Windeler 

 

_______________________     _______________________ 

Børge Johansen, Board member     Michael Windeler, Board member 
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APPENDIX I  

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR UNIVERSAL ENERGY RESOURCES 

INC.  

(AS OF AND FOR THE TWELVE MONTH PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023)   

ATTACHED AS APPENDIX B TO THE INFORMATION DOCUMENT FOR THE LISTING OF VENTURA OFFSHORE 

HOLDING LTD., ON EURONEXT GROWTH OSLO  
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Board of Directors 
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Management is responsible for the accompanying consolidated financial statements of 
Universal Energy Resources, Inc., which are comprised of the consolidated balance 
sheet as of December 31, 2023, and the related consolidated statements of operations, 
comprehensive income, changes in stockholder's equity, and cash flows for the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2023, and the related notas to the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 

We have performed a compilation engagement in accordance with Statements on 
Standards for Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and 
Review Services Committee of the AICPA. We did not audit or review the financial 
statements nor were we required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or 
completeness of the information provided by management. We do not express an 
opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any assurance on these financial statements. 

Houston, Texas 
May 7, 2024 
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Universal Energy Resources, Inc. 
Consolidated Balance Sheet 
December 31, 2023 

Assets 
Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 

Total current assets 

Vessels and equipment 
Accumulated depreciation 
Right-of-use assets 

Total vessels and equipment, net 
Deferred mobilization costs, net of accumulated 
amortization of $2,983,527 
Note receivable - affiliate 

Total assets 

$ 24,481,036 
27,821,897 
11,116,244 

63,419,177 

1,325,690,427 
(768,600,179) 

10,719,020 

567,809,268 

12,962,730 
10,366,103 

$ 654,557,278 

See Accountant's Compilation Report and Accompanying Notes 
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Universal Energy Resources, Inc. 
Consolidated Balance Sheet 
December 31, 2023 

Liabilities and Stockholder's Equity 
Current liabilities 

Accounts payable 
Accrued liabilities 
Right-of-use liability 
Accrued interest - related party - current portion 

Total current liabilities 

Deferred revenue 
Right-of-use liability - non current 

Total liabilities 

Commitments and contingencies 

Stockholder's equity 
Capital stock, 900,000 shares authorized at 
$1 Par Value; and 150,000 issued and outstanding 

Additional paid-in capital 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 
Retained (deficit) earnings 

Total stockholder's equity 

Total liabilities and stockholder's equity 

$ 3,396,864 
26,550,998 

4,392,464 
15,650,000 

49,990,326 

12,767,115 
6,292,224 

69,049,665 

150,000 
1,853,643,903 

1,421,174 
{1,269,707,464} 

585,507,613 

$ 654,557,278 

See Accountant's Compilation Report and Accompanying Notes 
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Universal Energy Resources, Inc. 
Consolidated Statement of Operations 
For the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2023 

Revenue 
Charter income 
Services income 
Management fee income 
lnterest and dividend income 

Total revenue 

Expenses 
Crew expenses 
Maintenance 
Training expense 
lnsurance expense 
Depreciation and amortization expense 
Other 
Gain on interest forgiveness - related party 
Loss on asset impairment 

T atal expenses 

Net loss 

$ 122,120,993 
32,070,745 
4,269,690 

447,659 

158,909,087 

45,130,820 
79,978,272 

222,158 
2,686,959 

70,224,381 
15,679,523 

(93,280,845) 
340,123,127 

460,764,395 

$ (301,855,308) 

See Accountant's Compilation Report and Accompanying Notes 
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Universal Energy Resources, Inc. 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive lncome 
For the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2023 

Net loss 

Other comprehensive income 
Foreign currency translation adjustments 

Other comprehensive income 

Comprehensive loss 

$ (301,855,308) 

468,392 

468,392 

$ (301,386,916) 

See Accountant's Compilation Report and Accompanying Notes 
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Universal Energy Resources, Inc. 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholder's Equity 
For the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2023 

Accumulated 
Additional Other 

Common Paid-in Comprehensive Retained 
Stock Capital lncome Earnings (Deficit) 

Balances at December 31, 2022 150,000 975,765,549 952,782 (967,852,156) 

Nei loss (301,855,308) 

Settlement of related party notes 877,878,354 

Other comprehensive income 468,392 

Balances at December 31, 2023 $ 150,000 $ 1,853,643,903 $ 1,421,174 $ (1,269,707,464) 

See Accountant's Compilation Report and Accompanying Nates 
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Total 
Stockholder's 

Equity 

9,016,175 

(301,855,308) 

877,878,354 

468,392 

$ 585,507,613 
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Universal Energy Resources, Inc. 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2023 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Net loss 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by 
operating activities 

Amortization of deferred revenue 
Depreciation and amortiization expense 
Gain on interest forgiveness - related party 
Loss on asset impairment 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 

Accounts receivable 
Accounts receivable - related party 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 
Deferred mobilization costs 
Accounts payable 
Accrued liabilities 
Deferred revenue 
Other long term liabilities 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchase of vessel and equipment 

Net cash used in investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Prinicpal payment on long-term debt 
Principal payment on long-term debt - related party 

Net cash used in financing activities 

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Beginning of year 

End of year 

$ (301,855,308) 

(2,992,885) 
70,224,381 

(93,280,845) 
340,123,127 

15,406,552 
54,261,256 
(3,430,557) 

(15,946,257) 
(38,338,075) 

2,361,362 
15,760,000 

(154,703) 

42,138,048 

(48,417,916) 

(48,417,916) 

(4,907,500) 
(10,000,000) 

(14,907,500) 

(1,007,571) 

(22, 194,939) 

46,675,975 

$ 24,481,036 

See Accountant's Compilation Report and Accompanying Nates 
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Universal Energy Resources, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2023 

NOTE 1-ORGANIZATION 

Universal Energy Resources, Inc. ("Universal" or the "Company") was incorporated on April 25, 1984, as a 
holding company formed to own investments in operating companies serving the oil and gas industry. The 
Company is registered in the British Virgin Islands ("BVI"). and provides contract drilling services to the 
energy industry around the globe. All of the Company's operations are conducted outside of the United 
States of America. The company is wholly owned by Petroserv Marine Inc. ("PMI" or "the Parent"). The 
Company has deemed the United States of America dollar to be its functional currency. 

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of the Company and its 
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For purposes of reporting cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid cash investments, including 
certificates of deposit, with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

Carrying amounts of certain of the Company's financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents 
and accounts receivable, approximate fair value because of their short maturities. The fair value of long­
term debt is based on estimated rates offered for debt of similar remaining maturities. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts on a case-by-case basis, considering 
changes in the financial position of the customer, when they believe the required payment of specific 
amounts owed is unlikely to occur. There was no allowance for doubtful accounts at December 31, 2023. 

Vessels and Equipment 

Vessels and equipment are stated at cost and include the vessels SSV Victoria and DS Carolina, and 
capital expenditures related to the conversion and construction of the vessels. Operating vessels and 
equipment are depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets (currently 30 years) using the 
straight-line method with an estimata for salvage value. lnterest costs related to construction and 
conversion are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful lives of the related assets once they 
are placed in service. Additions or improvements that increase the value or extend the life of an asset are 
capitalized and depreciated. Expenditures for normal maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. 
The Company schedules a major maintenance period every two years. Disposals are removed from the 
accounts at cost less accumulated depreciation, and any gain or loss from disposition is reflected in 
operations. 

8 



DocuSign Envelope ID: A5033971-8D87-4439-94AE-856C79D6C410 

Universal Energy Resources, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2023 

lmpairment of Long-Lived Assets 

The Company periodically assesses the carrying value of its long-lived assets when events or 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability is 
assessed by comparison of an asset's carrying value to the undiscounted future cash flows expected to be 
generated by that asset. In the event that the Company determines that an asset's carrying value is not 
recoverable, the amount of impairment is measured based on the fair value of the asset as determined by 
market comparables or discounted future cash flows. 

Management's assumptions are necessarily subjective and are an inherent part of our asset impairment 
evaluation, and the use of different assumptions could produce results that differ from those reported. Our 
methodology generally involves the use of significant unobservable inputs, representative of a Level 3 fair 
value measurement, which may include assumptions related to future dayrate revenue, costs and rig 
utilization, the long-term future performance of our rigs and future market conditions. Management's 
assumptions involve uncertainties about future demand for our services, dayrates, expenses and other 
future events, and management's expectations may not be indicative of future outcomes. Significant 
unanticipated changes to these assumptions could materially alter our analysis in testing an asset for 
potential impairment. For example, changes in market conditions that exist at the measurement date or that 
are projected by management could affect our key assumptions. Other events or circumstances that could 
affect our assumptions may include, but are not limited to, a further sustained decline in oil and gas prices, 
cancellations of our drilling contracts or contracts of our competitors, contract modifications, costs to 
comply with new governmental regulations, capital expenditures required due to advances in offshore 
drilling technology, growth in the global oversupply of oil and geopolitical events, such as lifting sanctions 
on oil-producing nations. Should actual market conditions in the future vary significantly from market 
conditions used in our projections, our assessment of impairment would likely be different. The impact of 
the assessment resulted in an impairment charge of $340,123, 127 in 2023. 

Deferred Mobilization Costs 

Mobilization costs incurred to mobilize a vessel from one geographical area to another are deferred and 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the related charter contracts. 

Revenue and Deferred Revenue Recognition 

Contracts with customers provide for an offshore drilling rig and drilling services on a dayrate contract 
basis. The integrated services provided under our contracts primarily include (i) provision of an offshore 
drilling rig, the work crew and supplies of equipment and services necessary to operate the rig, (ii) 
mobilization and demobilization of the rig to and from the drill site and (iii) performance of rig preparation 
activities and/or modifications required for each contract. 

Dayrate Drilling Revenue. Our drilling contracts generally provide for payment on a dayrate basis, with 
higher rates for periods when the drilling unit is operating and lower rates or zero rates for periods when 
drilling operations are interrupted, restricted by equipment breakdowns, adverse environmental conditions, 
etc. The dayrate invoices billed to the customer are typically determined based on the varying rates 
applicable to the specific activities performed on an hourly basis. Such dayrate consideration is allocated to 
the distinct hourly increment it relates to within the contract term, and therefore recognized in line with the 
contractual rate billed for the services provided for any given hour. 
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Certain of our contracts contain performance-based incentives, whereby we may earn a bonus or incur 
penalties based on pre-established performance metrics. Consideration related to the performance 
incentive is generally recognized in the specific time period to which the performance criteria were 
attributed. 

Mobilization/Demobilization Revenue. We may receive fees (on either a fixed lump-sum or variable dayrate 
basis) for the mobilization and demobilization of aur rigs. These activities are not considered to be distinct 
within the context of the contract, and therefore the associated revenue is allocated to the overall 
performance obligation. We record a contract liability for mobilization fees received and amortize such on a 
straight-line basis to contract drilling revenue as services are rendered over the term of the related drilling 
contract. Demobilization revenue expected to be received upon contract completion is estimated as part of 
the overall transaction price at contract inception and recognized as contract drilling revenue on a straight­
line basis over the term of the contract with an offset to an accretive contract asset. 

In same contracts, there is uncertainty as to the likelihood and amount of expected demobilization revenue 
to be received. For example, contractual provisions may require that a rig demobilize a certain distance 
befare the demobilization revenue is payable or the amount may vary dependent upon whether or not the 
rig has additional contracted work within a certain distance from the wellsite. Therefore, the estimate for 
such revenue may be constrained, as described above, depending on the facts and circumstances 
pertaining to the specific contract. We assess the likelihood of receiving such revenue based on aur past 
experience and knowledge of market conditions. 

Contract Preparation Revenue. Same of our drilling contracts require downtime befare the start of the 
contract to prepare the rig to meet customer requirements. At times, the customer may compensate us for 
such work (on either a fixed lump-sum or variable dayrate basis). These activities are not considered to be 
distinct within the context of the contract. We record a contract liability for contract preparation upfront fees 
received, which is amortized on a straight-line basis to contract drilling revenue over the term of the related 
drilling contract. 

Capita/ Modification Revenue. From time to time, we may receive fees from aur customers for capital 
improvements or upgrades to aur rigs to meet contractual requirements (on either a fixed lump-sum or 
variable dayrate basis). The activities related to these capital modifications are not considered to be distinct 
within the context of aur contracts. We record a contract liability for the upfront fees received and recognize 
them on a straight-line basis to contract drilling revenue over the term of the related drilling contract. 

Reimbursement Revenue. Same operating agreements for the vessels include revenue from 
reimbursements of expenses where the principal relationship exists between the Company and the service 
providers. The operating expenses are recorded in the income statement and the reimbursements of 
expenses are recorded in Charter lncome. 

Foreign Currency Transactions 

Foreign currency transaction gains or losses are credited or charged to income/expense as incurred. 
These gains and losses are included in other expense. 

Foreign Currency Translation 

All of the Company's operations are conducted outside of the United States of America. The Company has 
deemed the United States dollar to beits functional currency. The books and records of Ventura are 
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maintained in Brazilian reais and have been remeasured into the U.S. dollar. These books and records 
have been translated using the monetary-nonmonetary method. Translation losses and gains have been 
included as a component of other comprehensive income. The assets and liabilities recorded in reais are 
primarily monetary and have been translated to U.S. dollars using the exchange rate in effect at the 
balance sheet date (R$4.8407 to U.S.$1 for the period ended December 31, 2023). Results of operations 
have been translated using the average exchange rate during the period. The average exchange rate was 
R$4.9944 to U.S.$1 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023. 

lncome Taxes 

The Company isa registered BVI corporation, which is exempt from BVI taxes according to the tax laws of 
the BVI. Carolina's, Commodore's, and Victoria's charter income is exempt from Brazilian taxes. Ventura 
is subject to Brazilian taxes. Ventura has incurred a significant net operating loss since its inception, and 
therefore has no tax liability. The deferred tax asset related to the net operating loss has been fully 
reserved as of December 31, 2023. Huron is subject to United Kingdom tax; however, for the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2023, Huron had no taxable income. The Company has no United States 
trade or business and therefore, is not subject to United States federal income taxes. 

In 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2011, Ventura received tax assessments from the Brazilian Federal Revenue 
Service. The 2007 tax assessment was settled favorably for the Company. The 2008, 2009 and 2011 tax 
assessments remain unsettled. Management and its legal counsel are vigorously defending the 
assessments. Management believes payment of the assessments is not probable. Therefore, no provision 
has been provided for in the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2023. 

The Company could be subject to futura review and examination by taxing agencies in the jurisdiction in 
which the Company operates, the results of which management does not believe would have a material 
adverse effect on the Company's consolidated financial position, operations or cash flows. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

NOTE 3 - CHARTER CONTRACTS 

In August 2019, subsidiaries of the Company entered into a bareboat charter contract for the SSV Victoria. 
The primary terms of the contracts are for 2 years beginning from August 26, 2020, the time the SSV 
Victoria was placed into service. The time charter contract stipulates a day rate which is to be paid in 
United States dollars and the remainder in Brazilian reais, adjusted annually for inflation. In December 
2021, a new time charter contract for 1,040 days was signed with Petrobras for the SSV Victoria. 
Operations under the new contracts began on July 6, 2023. 

In August 2019, subsidiaries of the Company entered into a bareboat charter contract for the DS Carolina. 
The primary terms of the contracts are for 2 years beginning from August 10, 2020, the time the DS 
Carolina was placed into service. The time charter contract stipulates a day rate which is to be paid in 
United States dollars and the remainder in Brazilian reais, adjusted annually for inflation. In December 
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2021, a new time charter contract for 1,040 days was signed with Petrobras for the DS Carolina. 
Operations under the new contracts began May 29, 2023. 

In May 2019, Universal signed a long-term charter contract with Eni East Sepinggan Limited ("ENI") for the 
SSV Catarina. The SSV Catarina was accepted by ENI on July 29, 2019 with a contract commencement 
date of July 30, 2019. In February 2021, a Novation agreement was signed with ENI for extended services 
of the SSV Catarina. The charter contract ended in June 2021. In 2022, Universal was awarded a new 
contract with ENI for the charter of the SSV Catarina. In April 2022, the Company entered into a sales 
agreement for the sale of the SSV Catarina for approximately $45 million and Universal signed an 
Operating Agreement with the new owner of the Catarina, UMAS 1 AS ("UMAS"), to operate the vessel. 

In 2023, Commodore and Ventura were awarded contracts with Petrobras for the charter and servicesofa 
newbuild currently under construction named the Zonda. Operating and Marketing Agreements have been 
signed with Zonda Drilling AS, the owner of the Zonda, for the operation of the vessel to be chartered to 
Petrobras. Delivery of the vessel is expected in 2024. 

NOTE 4 - VESSELS AND EQUIPMENT 

Vessels and equipment consist of capital expenditures, including capitalized interest, related to the 
construction of the operating vessels SSV Victoria and DS Carolina. 

Depreciation expense for the twelve months ended Decem ber 31, 2023, totaled $66,991,198. 

The carrying values of the DS Carolina and SSV Victoria at December 31, 2023 were as follows: 

DS Carolina 
SSV Victoria 
Other Property and Equipment 

NOTE 5 - LEASES 

$ 258,733,417 
298,042,532 

314,299 

$ 557,090,248 

The Company determines whether a contract contains a lease at inception. A lease is defined as a 
contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to control the use of identified property, plant or 
equipment fora period of time in exchange for consideration. The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset 
and corresponding lease liability on the balance sheet upon commencement at the present value of the 
remaining lease payments over the lease term. As the implicit rate of the lease is not always readily 
determinable, the Company uses the incremental borrowing rate to calculate the present value of the lease 
payments based on information available at commencement date, such as the initial lease term. The 
Company presents right-of-use assets and right-of-use liabilities on the balance sheet. 

The Company has elected not to recognize leases with an initial term of twelve months or less on the 
balance sheet. These are recognized on a straight-line basis, and are recognized in the period as incurred. 
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The Company's lease assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2023 are as follows: 

Right-of-use assets: 
Operating leases 

Right-of-use liabilities: 
Current operating leases 
Non-current operating leases 
Total lease liabilities 

$ 10,719,020 

4,392,464 
6,292,224 

10,684,688 

Components of operating lease costs of $2,554,420 and $474,429 are reported in the income statement in 
Maintenance and Other expenses, respectively. 

The weighted average remaining lease term is 2.49 years and the average discount rate is 10.32%. 

The future minimum lease payments related to the operating leases are as follows: 

2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 

Total remaining lease payments 
at Decem ber 31 , 2023 

Less: interest 
Total lease liabilities 

$ 5,256,990 
4,934,461 
2,604,573 

22,311 
18,592 

$ 12,836,927 
(2, 152,239) 

$ 10,684,688 

Supplementa! cash flow information and non-cash activity related to operating leases are as follows: 

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities: 
Operating cash flows from leases $ 3,028,849 
Operating lease assets obtained in 
exchange for new operating leases 12,271,204 

NOTE 6 - SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION FOR STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

Cash paid for interest for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 was $6,423,218. 

The following noncash transactions have been excluded from the statement of cash flows for the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2023: 

Accrued capitalized expenses 

Reclassify interest from lang-term debt - related party 
Capital contributed by settlement of related party nates 
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NOTE 7 - COMMITMENT AND CONTINGENCIES 

Cash and cash equivalents of $5,830,408 are held on behalf of UMAS to be used for operation of the SSV 
Catarina. 

Under the terms of the PMI facility, Universal, VMI, Carolina, Commodore and certain other subsidiaries 
furnished guarantees in the form of first priority mortgages on the vessels SSV Victoria and DS Carolina 
("the Rigs"), and first priority assignment of earnings and insurance on the Rigs. 

NOTE 8 - CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK 

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist 
principally of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. The Company maintains some of its 
cash in accounts at U.S. federally insured financial institutions and the balance exceeds the insured limits 
of $250,000 from time to time. The Company also maintains some of its cash in uninsured non-U.S. 
accounts. The Company has not experienced any losses on such accounts. The Company does not 
require collateral for its receivables. 

For the period ended December 31, 2023, the Company derived 57% of its charter income from one 
customer. 

NOTE9-SUBSEQUENTEVENTS 

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through May 7, 2024, the date the financial statements 
were available for issuance. 

Effective December 2023, the Parent agreed to forgive approximately $811,332,900 of borrowings 
allocated to the Company. 

In March 2024, the Parent entered into an agreement to sell the Company toa consortium of financial 
investors. The transaction is expected to close in the second quarter of 2024. 

14 



 

 

 /   1 

APPENDIX I  

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR UNIVERSAL ENERGY RESOURCES INC.  

(FOR THE FINANCIAL YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 AND 2021)   

ATTACHED AS APPENDIX D TO THE INFORMATION DOCUMENT FOR THE LISTING OF VENTURA OFFSHORE 

HOLDING LTD., ON EURONEXT GROWTH OSLO  

 



 

Universal Energy Resources, Inc. 
Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 



Universal Energy Resources, Inc. 
Index 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 

 

Page(s) 

Report of Independent Auditors ............................................................................................................ 1-2 

Consolidated Financial Statements 

Balance Sheets ............................................................................................................................................ 3 

Statements of Operations ............................................................................................................................ 4 

Statements of Comprehensive Loss ............................................................................................................ 5 

Statements of Changes in Stockholder’s Equity .......................................................................................... 6 

Statements of Cash Flows ........................................................................................................................... 7 

Notes to Financial Statements ............................................................................................................... 8–14 



 

 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 1000 Louisiana St., Suite 5800, Houston, TX 77002 
T: (713) 356 4000, www.pwc.com/us 
 
 

Report of Independent Auditors 

To the Board of Directors of Universal Energy Resources, Inc. 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Universal Energy Resources, Inc., 
and its subsidiaries (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 
2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, changes in 
stockholder’s equity and cash flows for the years then ended, including the related notes (collectively 
referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations 
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (US GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 
with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern for one year after the date the consolidated financial statements are available 
to be issued. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will always detect a 
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material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a 
reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we:

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. 
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.  
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.
Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit.

Houston, Texas
August 21, 2023

pwc 
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2022 2021

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 46,675,975$       37,812,862$       
Accounts receivable 43,040,408 17,256,243
Accounts receivable - related party 136,773,606 43,237,145
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 7,251,950 9,854,397

Total current assets 233,741,939 108,160,647

Vessels and equipment 1,610,800,531 2,556,143,827
Accumulated depreciation (700,405,429) (1,078,033,360)

Total vessels and equipment, net 910,395,102 1,478,110,467
Deferred mobilization costs, net of accumulated 
 amortization of $53,480,817 and $36,510,328 - 16,970,484
Note receivable - affiliate 12,829,652 12,829,652
Other assets 249,655 249,655

Total assets 1,157,216,348$  1,616,320,905$  

Liabilities and Stockholder's Equity
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 41,734,939$       4,898,864$         
Accrued liabilities 19,203,505 13,251,003
Accrued interest - related party - current portion - 5,239,597
Current portion of long-term debt - related party 31,015,436 41,051,775

Total current liabilities 91,953,880 64,441,239

Deferred revenue - 2,801,301
Other long term liabilities 475,496 2,078,519
Long-term debt - related parties 1,055,770,797 839,437,542
Accrued interest - related party - 55,601,973

Total liabilities 1,148,200,173 964,360,574

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholder's equity
Capital stock, 900,000 shares authorized at
 $1 Par Value; and 150,000 issued and outstanding 150,000 150,000
Additional paid-in capital 975,765,549 975,765,549
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 952,782 1,369,215
Retained (deficit) earnings (967,852,156) (325,324,433)

Total stockholder's equity 9,016,175 651,960,331
Total liabilities and stockholder's equity 1,157,216,348$  1,616,320,905$   
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2022 2021

Revenue
Charter income 96,796,327$       123,059,294$     
Services income 26,149,643 25,677,803
Management fee income 4,390,568 -
Interest and dividend income 250,879 245,142

Total revenue 127,587,417 148,982,239

Expenses
Crew expenses 50,600,012 48,575,918
Maintenance 59,752,383 54,795,762
Training expense 277,910 1,087,317
Insurance expense 4,875,323 5,297,965
Interest expense 54,520,243 10,843,484
Depreciation and amortization expense 100,805,572 135,749,627
Other 12,117,045 26,241,132
Loss on sale of assets 487,166,652 -

Total expenses 770,115,140 282,591,205
Net loss (642,527,723)$    (133,608,966)$    
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2022 2021

Net loss (642,527,723)$    (133,608,966)$    

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (416,433) (605,153)

Other comprehensive income (loss) (416,433) (605,153)
Comprehensive loss (642,944,156)$    (134,214,119)$    
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Accumulated
Additional Other Total

Common Paid-in Comprehensive Retained Stockholder's
Stock Capital Income (Loss) Earnings (Deficit) Equity

Balances at December 31, 2020 150,000$      975,765,549$     1,974,368$         (191,715,467)$    786,174,450$     

Net loss - - - (133,608,966) (133,608,966)

Other comprehensive loss - - (605,153) - (605,153)

Balances at December 31, 2021 150,000 975,765,549 1,369,215 (325,324,433) 651,960,331

Net loss - - - (642,527,723)     (642,527,723)

Other comprehensive loss - - (416,433) - (416,433)
Balances at December 31, 2022 150,000$      975,765,549$     952,782$            (967,852,156)$    9,016,175$         
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2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss (642,527,723)$    (133,608,966)$    
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by
 (used in) operating activities

Amortization of deferred revenue (2,801,301) (5,073,733)
Amortization of deferred mobilization costs 16,970,482 28,565,274
Depreciation expense 83,835,090 107,184,359
Loss on asset sales 487,166,652 -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable (25,489,234) 21,012,108
Accounts receivable - related party (93,536,461) (36,757,865)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,935,848 7,751,366
Accounts payable 37,095,576 108,399
Accrued liabilities 2,802,154 8,667,378
Accrued interest-related party 54,762,463 35,105,495
Other long term liabilities (1,533,683) 949,898

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (80,320,137) 33,903,713

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of vessel and equipment (49,929,959) (12,228,342)
Proceeds from vessel disposition 50,219,950 -

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 289,991 (12,228,342)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt - related party 101,000,000 -
Repayment of long-term debt - related party (10,307,117) -

Net cash provided by financing activities 90,692,883 -

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (1,799,624) 1,345,732
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 8,863,113 23,021,103

Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of year 37,812,862 14,791,759
End of year 46,675,975$       37,812,862$       
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1. Organization 

Universal Energy Resources, Inc. (“Universal” or the “Company”) was incorporated on April 25, 
1984, as a holding company formed to own investments in operating companies serving the oil and 
gas industry.  The Company is registered in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and provides contract 
drilling services to the energy industry around the globe.  All of the Company’s operations are 
conducted outside of the United States of America.  The company is wholly owned by Petroserv 
Marine Inc. (“PMI” or “the Parent”).  The Company has deemed the United States of America dollar 
to be its functional currency. 

2. Significant Accounting Policies 

Principles of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of the Company and 
its subsidiaries.  All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
For purposes of reporting cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid cash investments, 
including certificates of deposit, with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash 
equivalents. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
Carrying amounts of certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash 
equivalents and accounts receivable, approximate fair value because of their short maturities.  The 
fair value of long-term debt is based on estimated rates offered for debt of similar remaining 
maturities. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts on a case-by-case basis, 
considering changes in the financial position of the customer, when they believe the required 
payment of specific amounts owed is unlikely to occur.  There was no allowance for doubtful 
accounts at December 31, 2022 and 2021. 

Vessels and Equipment 
Vessels and equipment are stated at cost and include the vessels SSV Louisiana, SSV Victoria, 
DS Carolina and SSV Catarina, and capital expenditures related to the conversion and construction 
of the vessels.  Operating vessels and equipment are depreciated over the estimated useful lives of 
the assets (currently 30 years) using the straight-line method with an estimate for salvage value.  
Interest costs related to construction and conversion are capitalized and amortized over the 
estimated useful lives of the related assets once they are placed in service.  Additions or 
improvements that increase the value or extend the life of an asset are capitalized and depreciated.  
Expenditures for normal maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.  The Company 
schedules a major maintenance period every two years.  Disposals are removed from the accounts 
at cost less accumulated depreciation, and any gain or loss from disposition is reflected in 
operations. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
The Company periodically assesses the carrying value of its long-lived assets when events or 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable.  
Recoverability is assessed by comparison of an asset’s carrying value to the undiscounted future 
cash flows expected to be generated by that asset.  In the event that the Company determines that 
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an asset’s carrying value is not recoverable, the amount of impairment is measured based on the 
fair value of the asset as determined by market comparables or discounted future cash flows.   

Management’s assumptions are necessarily subjective and are an inherent part of our asset 
impairment evaluation, and the use of different assumptions could produce results that differ from 
those reported. Our methodology generally involves the use of significant unobservable inputs, 
representative of a Level 3 fair value measurement, which may include assumptions related to 
future dayrate revenue, costs and rig utilization, the long-term future performance of our rigs and 
future market conditions. Management’s assumptions involve uncertainties about future demand 
for our services, dayrates, expenses and other future events, and management’s expectations may 
not be indicative of future outcomes. Significant unanticipated changes to these assumptions could 
materially alter our analysis in testing an asset for potential impairment. For example, changes in 
market conditions that exist at the measurement date or that are projected by management could 
affect our key assumptions. Other events or circumstances that could affect our assumptions may 
include, but are not limited to, a further sustained decline in oil and gas prices, cancellations of our 
drilling contracts or contracts of our competitors, contract modifications, costs to comply with new 
governmental regulations, capital expenditures required due to advances in offshore drilling 
technology, growth in the global oversupply of oil and geopolitical events, such as lifting sanctions 
on oil-producing nations. Should actual market conditions in the future vary significantly from 
market conditions used in our projections, our assessment of impairment would likely be 
different. No impairment losses were recorded in 2022 and 2021. 

Deferred Mobilization Costs 
Mobilization costs incurred to mobilize a vessel from one geographical area to another are deferred 
and recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the related charter contracts. 

Revenue and Deferred Revenue Recognition 
Contracts with customers provide for an offshore drilling rig and drilling services on a dayrate 
contract basis. The integrated services provided under our contracts primarily include (i) provision 
of an offshore drilling rig, the work crew and supplies of equipment and services necessary to 
operate the rig, (ii) mobilization and demobilization of the rig to and from the drill site and (iii) 
performance of rig preparation activities and/or modifications required for each contract.  
 
Dayrate Drilling Revenue. Our drilling contracts generally provide for payment on a dayrate basis, 
with higher rates for periods when the drilling unit is operating and lower rates or zero rates for 
periods when drilling operations are interrupted, restricted by equipment breakdowns, adverse 
environmental conditions, etc. The dayrate invoices billed to the customer are typically determined 
based on the varying rates applicable to the specific activities performed on an hourly basis. Such 
dayrate consideration is allocated to the distinct hourly increment it relates to within the contract 
term, and therefore recognized in line with the contractual rate billed for the services provided for 
any given hour.   
 
Certain of our contracts contain performance based incentives, whereby we may earn a bonus or 
incur penalties based on pre-established performance metrics. Consideration related to the 
performance incentive is generally recognized in the specific time period to which the performance 
criteria were attributed.   
 
Mobilization/Demobilization Revenue. We may receive fees (on either a fixed lump-sum or variable 
dayrate basis) for the mobilization and demobilization of our rigs. These activities are not 
considered to be distinct within the context of the contract, and therefore the associated revenue is 
allocated to the overall performance obligation. We record a contract liability for mobilization fees 
received and amortize such on a straight-line basis to contract drilling revenue as services are 



Universal Energy Resources, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 

10 

rendered over the term of the related drilling contract. Demobilization revenue expected to be 
received upon contract completion is estimated as part of the overall transaction price at contract 
inception and recognized as contract drilling revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
contract with an offset to an accretive contract asset.   
 
In some contracts, there is uncertainty as to the likelihood and amount of expected demobilization 
revenue to be received. For example, contractual provisions may require that a rig demobilize a 
certain distance before the demobilization revenue is payable or the amount may vary dependent 
upon whether or not the rig has additional contracted work within a certain distance from the 
wellsite. Therefore, the estimate for such revenue may be constrained, as described above, 
depending on the facts and circumstances pertaining to the specific contract. We assess the 
likelihood of receiving such revenue based on our past experience and knowledge of market 
conditions.   
 
Contract Preparation Revenue. Some of our drilling contracts require downtime before the start of 
the contract to prepare the rig to meet customer requirements. At times, the customer may 
compensate us for such work (on either a fixed lump-sum or variable dayrate basis). These 
activities are not considered to be distinct within the context of the contract. We record a contract 
liability for contract preparation upfront fees received, which is amortized on a straight-line basis to 
contract drilling revenue over the term of the related drilling contract.  
 
Capital Modification Revenue. From time to time, we may receive fees from our customers for 
capital improvements or upgrades to our rigs to meet contractual requirements (on either a fixed 
lump-sum or variable dayrate basis). The activities related to these capital modifications are not 
considered to be distinct within the context of our contracts. We record a contract liability for the 
upfront fees received and recognize them on a straight-line basis to contract drilling revenue over 
the term of the related drilling contract.   
 
Foreign Currency Transactions 
Foreign currency transaction gains or losses are credited or charged to income/expense as 
incurred.  These gains and losses are included in other expense. 

Foreign Currency Translation 
All of the Company’s operations are conducted outside of the United States of America.  The 
Company has deemed the United States dollar to be its functional currency.  The books and 
records of Ventura are maintained in Brazilian reais and have been remeasured into the 
U.S. dollar.  These books and records have been translated using the monetary-nonmonetary 
method.  Translation losses and gains have been included as a component of other comprehensive 
income.  The assets and liabilities recorded in reais are primarily monetary and have been 
translated to U.S. dollars using the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date (R$5.22 to 
U.S. $1 and R$5.58 to U.S. $1 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively).  
Results of operations have been translated using the average exchange rate during the years.  The 
average exchange rate was R$5.16 to U.S. $1 and R$5.40 to U.S. $1 for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

Income Taxes 
The Company is a registered BVI corporation, which is exempt from BVI taxes according to the tax 
laws of the BVI.  Carolina’s and Victoria’s charter income is exempt from Brazilian taxes.  Ventura 
is subject to Brazilian taxes.  Ventura has incurred a significant net operating loss since its 
inception, and therefore has no tax liability.  The deferred tax asset related to the net operating 
losses has been fully reserved as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.  Huron is subject to United 
Kingdom tax; however, in 2022 and 2021, Huron had no taxable income.  The Company has no 
United States trade or business and therefore, is not subject to United States federal income taxes. 
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Universal’s charter income for the SSV Louisiana (see Note 3) is subject to GST in India.  The GST 
is paid by ONGC to Universal, in addition to the revenue.  Universal is subject to a tax deducted at 
source income tax withholding (TDS liability) from gross revenue (inclusive of GST) in India of 
4.368%.  This TDS liability is withheld by ONGC.  At December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively; 
no provision or liability for income taxes has been included with the financial statements. 

In 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2011, Ventura received tax assessments from the Brazilian Federal 
Revenue Service.  The 2007 tax assessment was settled favorably for the Company.  The 2008, 
2009 and 2011 tax assessments remain unsettled.  Management and its legal counsel are 
vigorously defending the assessments.  Management believes payment of the assessments is not 
probable.  Therefore, no provision has been provided for in the consolidated financial statements of 
the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. 

The Company could be subject to future review and examination by taxing agencies in the 
jurisdiction in which the Company operates, the results of which management does not believe 
would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, operations 
or cash flows. 

Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

3. Charter Contracts 

In August 2019, subsidiaries of the Company entered into a bareboat charter contract for the SSV 
Victoria.  The primary terms of the contracts are for 2 years beginning from August 26, 2020, the 
time the SSV Victoria was placed into service.  The time charter contract stipulates a day rate 
which is to be paid in United States dollars and the remainder in Brazilian reais, adjusted annually 
for inflation.  In December 2021, a new time charter contract for 1,040 days was signed with 
Petrobras for the SSV Victoria. 

In August 2019, subsidiaries of the Company entered into a bareboat charter contract for the DS 
Carolina.  The primary terms of the contracts are for 2 years beginning from August 10, 2020, the 
time the DS Carolina was placed into service.  The time charter contract stipulates a day rate which 
is to be paid in United States dollars and the remainder in Brazilian reais, adjusted annually for 
inflation.  In December 2021, a new time charter contract for 1,040 days was signed with Petrobras 
for the DS Carolina. 

In May 2019, Universal signed a long-term charter contract with Eni East Sepinggan Limited (“ENI”) 
for the SSV Catarina.  The SSV Catarina was accepted by ENI on July 29, 2019 with a contract 
commencement date of July 30, 2019.  In February 2021, a Novation agreement was signed with 
ENI for extended services of the SSV Catarina.  The charter contract ended in June 2021.  In 2022, 
Universal was awarded a new contract with ENI for the charter of the SSV Catarina. In April 2022, 
the Company entered into a sales agreement for the sale of the SSV Catarina for approximately 
$45 million and Universal signed an Operating Agreement with the new owner of the Catarina, 
UMAS 1 AS (“UMAS”), to operate the vessel. 
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LOI chartered the SSV Louisiana to the Oil and Natural Gas Corporation (“ONGC”) on June 22, 
2017 in India. The SSV Louisiana was accepted by ONGC on May 3, 2018 and began operations 
under the signed three-year contract.  In April 2021, ONGC granted to Universal a contract 
extension for 385 days for the SSV Louisiana. The contract ended in May 2022.  In June 2022, the 
Company signed a Memo of Agreement to sell the SSV Louisiana for approximately $5.2 million. 

4. Concentrations of Credit Risk 

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist 
principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and short and long-term investments.  
The Company maintains some of its cash in accounts at U.S. federally insured financial institutions 
and the balance exceeds the insured limits of $250,000 from time-to-time.  The Company also 
maintains some of its cash in uninsured non-U.S. accounts.  The Company has not experienced 
any losses on such accounts.  The Company does not require collateral for its receivables.   

The Company derived 67% and 59% of its charter income from one customer in 2022 and 2021, 
respectively. 

5. Supplemental Information for Statements of Cash Flows 

Cash paid for interest in 2022 and 2021 was $7,749 and $0, respectively. 

The following noncash transactions have been excluded from the statements of cash flows for the 
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021: 

2022 2021

Accrued capitalized expenses and loan costs (3,470,025)$        (140,020)$           
Change in lease liability/asset - (4,107,711)
PIK interest capitalized to long-term debt-related party (115,604,033) -

 

6. Vessels and Equipment 

At December 31, 2022, vessels and equipment consist of capital expenditures, including 
capitalized interest, related to the construction of the operating vessels, SSV Victoria and DS 
Carolina.   

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, totaled $83,835,090 and 
$107,184,359, respectively. 

The carrying values of the SSV Catarina, DS Carolina, SSV Louisiana and SSV Victoria at 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows: 
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2022 2021

SSV Catarina -$                        530,901,288$     
DS Carolina 452,135,521 460,302,558
SSV Victoria 457,032,738 459,612,638
SSV Louisiana - 25,767,283
Other Property and Equipment 1,226,843 1,526,700

910,395,102$     1,478,110,467$  
 

7. Long-Term Debt 

Long-term debt at December 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following: 

2022 2021

Note payable to PMI in U.S. dollars portions of which bear interest at the 
applicable SOFR rate plus a margin of 6.00% and 3.00%, the remaining 
portion bears interest at a fixed rate, collateralized by the DS Carolina, and 
the SSV Victoria, and guaranteed by the Company and certain  affiliated 
entities. Principal payments will begin on July 31, 2023.  Payments on all 
remaining principal will begin in July 2025. A portion of accrued interest is 
payable in monthly installments, the remaining portion of interest is PIK 
and payable on the final repayment date. 1,010,240,779$  803,943,863$     

Note payable to an affiliate in U.S. dollars,
payment is due and payable on June 30, 2027. 76,545,454 76,545,454

1,086,786,233 880,489,317

Less:  Current portion (31,015,436) (41,051,775)
1,055,770,797$  839,437,542$     

 

Scheduled principal maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2022 are as follows: 

Years Ending December 31,
2023 31,015,436$       
2024 52,230,872
2025 31,015,436
2026 121,700,852
2027 and thereafter 850,823,637

1,086,786,233$  

 

In December 2014, PMI entered into a long-term loan agreement with a bank syndicate group for 
$1,700,000,000 (“PMI facility”).  A portion of the PMI facility was allocated to Universal from PMI.  
Effective April 3, 2020, PMI completed the restructuring of its long-term debt with the bank 
syndicate group, resulting in an approximate $463,000,000 and $311,000,000 reduction in principal 
for Universal from PMI and affiliated note holders, respectively.  The restructured PMI facility also 
included PIK interest and deferred principal payments until maturity. Effective June 28, 2022, PMI 
executed an amendment and restatement of the long-term debt with the bank syndicate group.  
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The amendment includes additional funds for upgrades to the SSV Victoria and DS Carolina, as 
well as maturity date extensions. 

PMI and certain subsidiaries are subject to certain debt covenant restrictions under the PMI facility, 
the most restrictive of which limits the payment of dividends and the incurrence of certain liabilities.  

8. Related-Party Transactions 

The Company and the affiliates are related by common management control.  It is the intent of 
management of the Company to settle related party receivables and payables.  Repayment is 
dependent upon the financial ability of the group as a whole. 

9. Commitments and Contingencies 

Cash and cash equivalents of $9,754,390 are held on behalf of UMAS to be used for operation of 
the SSV Catarina  

Under the terms of the PMI facility, Universal, VMI, Carolina, Commodore and certain other 
subsidiaries furnished guarantees in the form of first priority mortgages on the vessels SSV Victoria 
and DS Carolina (“the Rigs”), and first priority assignment of earnings and insurance on the Rigs. 

10. Subsequent Events 

The Company has performed an evaluation of subsequent events through August 21, 2023, which 
is the date the financial statements were made available for issuance. 

The SSV Victoria was accepted under the new contract with Petrobras on July 6, 2023. 

The DS Carolina was accepted under the new contract with Petrobras on May 29, 2023. 

Events Subsequent to Original Issuance of Financial Statements (Unaudited) 

In connection with the reissuance of the financial statements, the Company has evaluated 
subsequent events through May 24, 2024, the date the financial statements were available to be 
reissued. 

Effective December 2023, the Parent agreed to forgive approximately $811.3 million of borrowings 
allocated to the Company.  

In March 2024, the Parent entered into an agreement to sell the Company to a consortium of 
financial investors. The transaction is expected to close in the second quarter of 2024.  
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THE ISSUER'S ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION 



Registration No. 202403320

The Companies Act 1981

CERTIFICATE OF CHANGE OF NAME

I HEREBY CERTIFY that in accordance with section 10 of  PS Marinethe Companies Act 1981
Midco Ltd. by resolution and with the approval of the Registrar of Companies has changed its
name and was registered as Ventura Offshore Midco Ltd. on the 1st day of May 2024.

Kenneth Joaquin
Registrar of Companies

1st day of May 2024
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